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Item 1. Financial Statements

Trinity Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(unaudited)

Revenues:
Manufacturing

Leasing & Services

Operating costs:
Cost of revenues:
Manufacturing

Leasing & Services

Selling, engineering, and administrative expenses:
Manufacturing
Leasing & Services

Corporate & other

Gains on dispositions of property:
Lease portfolio sales
Other

Restructuring activities, net
Total operating profit
Other (income) expense:
Interest expense, net
Other, net

Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Provision (benefit) for income taxes:
Current

Deferred

Income from continuing operations

Loss from discontinued operations, net of benefit for income taxes of $ 0.5, $ 0.7 , $

1.8,and$1.5
Net income
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest

Net income attributable to Trinity Industries, Inc.

Basic earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Basic net income attributable to Trinity Industries, Inc.
Diluted earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations

Loss from discontinued operations

Diluted net income attributable to Trinity Industries, Inc.

Weighted average number of shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

PART |

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2024

2023 2024 2023

(in millions, except per share amounts)

$ 560.9 $ 4546 $ 1,0862 $ 863.6
280.5 267.8 564.8 500.5
841.4 722.4 1,651.0 1,364.1
505.8 434.1 982.1 826.0
156.6 167.1 325.2 313.7
662.4 601.2 1,307.3 1,139.7
7.8 75 15.5 14.5
20.0 15.2 38.1 321
33.5 31.6 60.0 57.6
61.3 54.3 113.6 104.2
22.7 29.8 24.8 433
15 0.6 2.2 2.4
24.2 30.4 27.0 45.7
— (1.8) — (2.2)
141.9 99.1 257.1 168.1
70.1 66.9 139.2 129.0
(3.4) 1.3 — 2.9
66.7 68.2 139.2 131.9
75.2 30.9 117.9 36.2
13.8 3.1 26.9 4.0
33 4.3 1.2 (8.1)
17.1 7.4 28.1 (4.1)
58.1 23.5 89.8 40.3
(1.7) (2.3) (6.0) (5.4)
56.4 21.2 83.8 34.9
2.0 4.2 5.7 13.5
$ 544 $ 170 $ 781 $ 21.4
$ 068 $ 024 $ 1.03 $ 0.33
(0.02) (0.03) (0.07) (0.07)
$ 066 $ 021 $ 096 $ 0.26
$ 067 $ 023 $ 1.01 $ 0.32
(0.02) (0.03) (0.07) (0.06)
$ 065 $ 020 $ 094 $ 0.26
82.4 81.2 81.7 81.0
84.1 83.4 83.4 83.5



See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Trinity Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(unaudited)

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2024 2023 2024 2023
(in millions)
Net income $ 56.4 $ 212 % 838 $ 34.9
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Derivative financial instruments:
Unlr.e7aylisz;(3<;lga;iyn;((llo.s%s)eys;ne;ri;i(ngsL)lring the period, net of tax benefit (expense) of $ (55) 8.9 59 94
Ri(:;:zzflg?;?riz;d)]u;r;elnt)s ;tzrzg-;i;sairr::;d;g in net income, net of tax (expense) (54) (3.9) (93) (18.8)
(10.9) 5.0 (34) (9.4)
Comprehensive income 45.5 26.2 80.4 25.5
Less: comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest 21 4.3 5.9 6.2
Comprehensive income attributable to Trinity Industries, Inc. $ 434 % 219 $ 745 $ 19.3

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Trinity Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

(unaudited)

(in millions)
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2571 % 105.7
Receivables, net of allowance 397.5 363.5
Income tax receivable 4.6 5.2
Inventories:
Raw materials and supplies 3915 419.4
Work in process 136.2 142.4
Finished goods 89.2 122.5
616.9 684.3
Restricted cash, including partially-owned subsidiaries of $ 29.8 and $ 30.6 107.1 129.4
Property, plant, and equipment, at cost, including partially-owned subsidiaries of $ 1,924.6 and $ 1,922.5 9,593.0 9,539.6
Less accumulated depreciation, including partially-owned subsidiaries of $ 669.0 and $ 644.7 (2,650.7) (2,534.8)
6,942.3 7,004.8
Goodwill 221.5 221.5
Other assets 410.8 392.1
Total assets $ 8,957.8 $ 8,906.5
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Accounts payable $ 3154 % 305.3
Accrued liabilities 353.9 302.3
Debt:
Recourse 597.5 794.6
Non-recourse:
Wholly-owned subsidiaries 4,019.6 3,819.2
Partially-owned subsidiaries 1,110.3 1,140.4
5,727.4 5,754.2
Deferred income taxes 1,104.2 1,103.5
Other liabilities 152.9 165.7
Total liabilities 7,653.8 7,631.0
Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)
Preferred stock — 1.5 shares authorized and unissued — —
Common stock — 400.0 shares authorized 0.8 0.8
Capital in excess of par value 15.9 154
Retained earnings 1,042.0 1,010.5
Accumulated other comprehensive income 7.4 11.0
Treasury stock (0.6) (0.6)
Trinity stockholders' equity 1,065.5 1,037.1
Noncontrolling interest 238.5 238.4
Total stockholders' equity 1,304.0 1,275.5
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 8,957.8 $ 8,906.5

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Trinity Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(unaudited)

Operating activities:
Net income

Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities — continuing operations:

Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation expense
Provision (benefit) for deferred income taxes
Net gains on lease portfolio sales
Gains on dispositions of property and other assets
Gains on insurance recoveries from property damage
Non-cash impact of restructuring activities
Non-cash interest expense
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Other
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in receivables
(Increase) decrease in inventories
(Increase) decrease in other assets
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities — continuing operations
Net cash used in operating activities — discontinued operations
Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities:
Proceeds from dispositions of property and other assets
Proceeds from lease portfolio sales
Capital expenditures — lease fleet
Capital expenditures — operating and administrative
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Proceeds from insurance recoveries
Equity investments
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities:
Payments to retire debt
Proceeds from issuance of debt
Payments to settle contingent consideration liability
Shares repurchased
Dividends paid to common shareholders
Purchase of shares to satisfy employee tax on vested stock
Distributions to noncontrolling interest
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Six Months Ended

June 30,
2024 2023
(in millions)
$ 838 $ 34.9
6.0 5.4
147.2 146.8
10.6 12.7
12 (8.1)
(24.8) (43.3)
(2.2) (1.2)
- (1.2)
— (2.2)
6.7 5.7
15 —
0.2 (3.0)
(32.8) (84.4)
67.4 7.2
25 SIS
10.1 27.6
211 38.0
1.2 1.9
299.7 140.3
(6.0) (54)
293.7 134.9
8.0 8.4
186.7 185.7
(232.7) (399.7)
(15.9) (20.8)
= (65.8)
— 1.2
(2.0) (1.1)
(55.9) (292.1)
(1,759.9) (1,035.3)
1,722.2 1,253.9
(8.0) -
(0.9) -
(47.2) (43.3)
(9.1) (6.8)
(58) (9.0)
(108.7) 159.5
129.1 2.3
235.1 294.3
$ 3642 $ 296.6
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Trinity Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
(unaudited)

Common Stock Accumulated

Treasury Stock

Capital in Other Trinity Total
$0.01 Excess of Retained Comprehensive Stockholders’ Noncontrolling Stockholders’
Shares Par Value ParValue Earnings Income (Loss) Shares Amount Equity Interest Equity
(in millions, except par value and per common share amounts)
Balances at
818 $ 08 $ 154 $1,0105 $ 11.0 — $ (06) $ 10371 $ 2384 $ 1,275.5
December 31, 2023
Net income — — — 23.7 — — — 23.7 3.7 27.4
Other comprehensive income — — — — 74 — — 7.4 0.1 7.5
Cash dividends declared on
— — — (23.3) — — — (23.3) — (23.3)
common stock
Distributions to noncontrolling
. — — — — — — — — (3.0) (3.0)
interest
Stock-based compensation
— — 4.7 — — — — 47 — 4.7
expense
Settlement of share-based
— — 0.1 — — — (0.4) (0.3) — (0.3)
awards, net
Balances at
818 $ 08 $ 202 $1,0109 $ 18.4 — $ (10) % 1,0493 $ 239.2  $ 1,288.5
March 31, 2024
Net income — — — 54.4 — — — 54.4 2.0 56.4
Other comprehensive income
— — — — (11.0) — — (11.0) 0.1 (10.9)
(loss)
Cash dividends declared on
— — — (23.3) — — — (23.3) — (23.3)
common stock @
Distributions to noncontrolling
] — — — — — — — — (2.8) (2.8)
interest
Stock-based compensation
— — 5.9 — — — — 5.9 — 5.8
expense
Settlement of share-based
0.9 — 0.2 — — (0.3) (9.1) (8.9) — (8.9)
awards, net
Shares repurchased — — — — — — (0.9) (0.9) — (0.9)
Retirement of treasury stock (0.3) — (10.4) — — 0.3 10.4 — — —
Balances at
824 $ 08 $ 159 $1,0420 $ 7.4 — $ (06) $ 10655 $ 2385 $ 1,304.0

June 30, 2024

(@ pividends of $ 0.28 per common share for all periods presented in 2024.
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Common Stock Treasury Stock

Accumulated

$0.01 Capital in Other Trinity Total
Par Excess of Retained Comprehensive Stockholders’ Noncontrolling Stockholders’
Shares Value Par Value Earnings Income (Loss) Shares Amount Equity Interest Equity

(in millions, except par value and per common share amounts)

Balances at
811 $ 08 $ — $ 9926 $ 19.7 — $ (07) % 10124 $ 2572  $ 1,269.6
December 31, 2022
Net income — — — 4.4 — — — 4.4 9.3 13.7
Other comprehensive loss — — — — (7.0) — — (7.0) (7.4) (14.4)
Cash dividends declared on
— — — (21.4) — — — (21.4) — (21.4)
common stock @
Distributions to noncontrolling
] — — — — — — — — (29) (29)
interest
Stock-based compensation
— — 6.2 — — — — 6.2 — 6.2
expense
Settlement of share-based
— — 0.4 — — — (0.8) (0.4) — (04)
awards, net
Balances at
811 $ 08 $ 66 $ 9756 $ 12.7 — $ (15) % 9942 $ 2562 $ 1,250.4
March 31, 2023
Net income — — — 17.0 — — — 17.0 4.2 21.2
Other comprehensive income — — — — 4.9 — — 4.9 0.1 5.0
Cash dividends declared on
— — — (21.6) — — — (21.6) — (21.6)
common stock @
Distributions to noncontrolling
. — — — — — — — — (6.1) (6.1)
interest
Stock-based compensation
— — 6.5 — — — — 6.5 — 6.5
expense
Settlement of share-based
1.0 — — — — (0.3) (6.4) (6.4) — (6.4)
awards, net
Retirement of treasury stock (0.3) — (7.2) — — 0.3 7.2 — — —
Balances at
818 $ 08 $ 59 $ 9710 $ 17.6 — $ (07) 8 9946 $ 2544  $ 1,249.0

June 30, 2023

(@) pividends of $ 0.26 per common share for for all periods presented in 2023 .

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Trinity Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The foregoing Consolidated Financial Statements are unaudited and have been prepared from the books and records of Trinity Industries, Inc. and
Subsidiaries (“Trinity,” “Company,” “we,” “our,” or "us"), including the accounts of our wholly-owned subsidiaries and partially-owned subsidiaries, TRIP
Rail Holdings LLC (“TRIP Holdings”), RIV 2013 Rail Holdings LLC ("RIV 2013"), and Trinity Global Ventures Limited ("Trinity Global Ventures"), in which
we have a controlling interest. In our opinion, all normal and recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of our financial position as of June 30,
2024, the results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, and cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and
2023 have been made in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been
eliminated. Certain prior year balances have been reclassified to conform to the 2024 presentation.

Due to seasonal and other factors, the results of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2024 may not be indicative of expected results of
operations for the year ending December 31, 2024. These interim financial statements and notes are condensed as permitted by the instructions to Form
10-Q and should be read in conjunction with our audited Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2023.

Our Reportable Segments

Effective January 1, 2024, the Company modified its organizational structure to better leverage our maintenance services capabilities to support lease
fleet optimization and to grow our services and parts businesses. The new structure resulted in a change to our reportable segments beginning in 2024. In
connection with this organizational update, we aligned the maintenance services business, which was previously reported in the Rail Products Group, to
now be presented within our leasing business. This change aligns with the way in which our Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") assesses
performance and allocates resources. Consequently, beginning January 1, 2024, we report our operating results in two reportable segments: (1) the
Railcar Leasing and Services Group, formerly the Railcar Leasing and Management Services Group, and (2) the Rail Products Group. These changes had
no impact to our previously reported consolidated results of operations, financial position, or cash flows. All prior period segment results set forth herein
have been recast to reflect these changes and present results on a comparable basis.

Revenue Recognition

In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, revenue is measured based on the
allocation of the transaction price in a contract to satisfied performance obligations. The transaction price does not include any amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. We recognize revenue when we satisfy a performance obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a customer.
For all contracts with customers, we evaluate whether we are the principal (i.e., report revenues on a gross basis) or agent (i.e., report revenues on a net
basis). Generally, we are the principal in our contracts with customers and report revenues on a gross basis as we control the product or service before it
is transferred to a customer. We act as an agent for a small number of service contracts and report those revenues on a net basis as we do not control
the services before they are provided to the customer. Payments for our products and services are generally due within normal commercial terms. The
following is a description of principal activities from which we generate our revenue, separated by reportable segments. See Note 4 for a further
discussion regarding our reportable segments.

Railcar Leasing and Services Group

In our Railcar Leasing and Services Group ("Leasing Group"), revenue from rentals and operating leases, including contracts that contain non-level
fixed lease payments, is recognized monthly on a straight-line basis. Leases not classified as operating leases are generally considered sales-type leases
as a result of an option to purchase.

We review our operating lease receivables for collectibility on a regular basis, taking into consideration changes in factors such as the lessee’s payment
history, the financial condition of the lessee, and business and economic conditions in the industry in which the lessee operates. In the event that
the collectibility of a receivable with respect to any lessee is no longer probable, we derecognize the revenue and related receivable and recognize future
revenue only when the lessee makes a rental payment. Contingent rents are recognized when the contingency is resolved.
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Selling profit or loss associated with sales-type leases is recognized upon lease commencement, and a net investment in the sales-type lease is
recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Interest income related to sales-type leases is recognized over the lease term using the effective
interest method. See "Lease Accounting" below for additional information regarding sales-type leases as of June 30, 2024 and 2023.

We report all sales of railcars from the lease fleet and selling profit or loss associated with sales-type leases as a net gain or loss from the disposal of a
long-term asset in accordance with ASC 610-20, Gains and losses from the derecognition of non-financial assets . These sales are presented in the
Lease portfolio sales line in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Our maintenance services business is primarily dedicated to servicing our lease fleet pursuant to the provisions of our lease contracts. This may include
services that are not included in the full-service lease agreement, such as repairs of railcar damage or other customer-specific requirements. We also
perform maintenance and repair activities on railcars owned by third parties, including our investor-owned fleet.

Within our maintenance services business, revenue is recognized over time as repair and maintenance projects are completed, using an input approach
based on the costs incurred relative to the total estimated costs of performing the project. We recorded contract assets of $ 12.9 million and $ 8.8 million
as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively, related to unbilled revenues recognized on repair and maintenance activities that have been
performed, but for which the entire project has not yet been completed, and the railcar has not yet been shipped to the customer. These contract assets
are included within the Receivables, net of allowance line in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

In connection with an acquisition that occurred during the first quarter of 2023, we evaluated whether we are acting as a principal or an agent for certain
logistics services provided to a small number of customers. During the fourth quarter of 2023, we concluded that we act as an agent in these transactions
as we do not control the services before they are provided to the customer, and as a result, revenues that were previously recognized on a gross basis
should be recognized on a net basis. We elected to effect this accounting change on a prospective basis as it was not quantitatively or qualitatively
material to our consolidated financial statements, and beginning in the fourth quarter of 2023, revenues associated with these services are now
recognized on a net basis. The accounting change had no effect on the Company's previously reported operating profit, net income, earnings per share,
Consolidated Balance Sheets, or Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Rail Products Group

Our railcar manufacturing business recognizes revenue related to new railcars when the customer has submitted its certificate of acceptance and legal
title of the railcar has passed to the customer. Certain contracts for the sales of railcars include price adjustments based on changes to input costs; this
amount represents variable consideration for which we are generally unable to estimate the final consideration until the railcar is delivered.

Revenue is recognized over time as sustainable railcar conversions are completed, using an input approach based on the costs incurred relative to the
total estimated costs of performing the project. We recorded contract assets of $ 3.2 million and $ 12.6 million as of June 30, 2024 and December 31,
2023, respectively, which primarily relate to unbilled revenues recognized on sustainable railcar conversions that have been performed, but for which the
entire project has not yet been completed, and the railcar has not yet been shipped to the customer. These contract assets are included within the
Receivables, net of allowance line in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

We account for shipping and handling costs as activities to fulfill the promise to transfer the good; as such, these fees are recorded in revenue. The fees
and costs of shipping and handling activities are accrued when the related performance obligation has been satisfied.

10
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Unsatisfied Performance Obligations

The following table includes estimated revenue expected to be recognized in future periods related to performance obligations that are unsatisfied or
partially satisfied as of June 30, 2024 and the percentage of the outstanding performance obligations as of June 30, 2024 expected to be delivered during
the remainder of 2024:

Unsatisfied performance obligations at June 30,

2024
Total Percent expected to be
Amount delivered in 2024
(in millions)
Rail Products Group:
New railcars:
External customers $ 2,281.1
Leasing Group 402.1
$ 2,683.2 36.0 %
Sustainable railcar conversions $ 19.6 847 %
Railcar Leasing and Services Group:
Leasing and management $ 64.5 15.0 %
Maintenance services $ 8.3 100.0 %

The remainder of the unsatisfied performance obligations for the Rail Products Group is expected to be delivered through 2028. The orders in the Rail
Products Group's backlog from the Leasing Group are fully supported by lease commitments with external customers. The final amount of backlog
attributable to the Leasing Group may vary by the time of delivery as customers may elect to change their procurement decision.

Unsatisfied performance obligations for the Railcar Leasing and Services Group are related to servicing, maintenance, and management agreements
and are expected to be performed through 2029.

11
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Lease Accounting
Lessee

We are the lessee of operating leases predominantly for office buildings and railcars, as well as manufacturing equipment and office equipment. Our
operating leases have remaining lease terms ranging from one year to thirteen years , some of which include options to extend for up to five years , and
some of which include options to terminate within one year . As of June 30, 2024, we had no material finance leases in which we were the lessee. Certain
of our operating leases include lease incentives, which reduce the right-of-use asset and are recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The following table summarizes the impact of our operating leases on our Consolidated Financial Statements (in millions, except lease term and
discount rate):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2024 2023 2024 2023

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Operating lease expense $ 53 % 44 % 10.6 $ 8.7
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities $ 10.6 $ 8.7

Right-of-use assets recognized in exchange for new lease liabilities $ 2.6 $ 6.4

June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Right-of-use assets @ $ 98.7 $ 100.6
Lease liabilities @ $ 115.0 $ 118.2
Weighted average remaining lease term 8.9 years 9.3 years
Weighted average discount rate ©) 3.7 % 3.6 %

@ Included in other assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
@) Included in other liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
() As the rate implicit in our leases is not readily determinable, we use the incremental borrowing rate of our Trinity Industries Leasing Company ("TILC") warehouse loan facility for

railcar leases or our revolving credit facility for operating and administrative leases at lease commencement to determine the present value of lease payments.

Future contractual minimum operating lease liabilities will mature as follows (in millions):

Railcars in our Lease Operating and
Fleet Administrative Total

Remaining six months of 2024 $ 44 $ 6.1 $ 10.5
2025 8.3 11.0 19.3
2026 7.7 9.9 17.6
2027 7.2 9.1 16.3
2028 5.1 7.7 12.8
Thereafter 6.8 514 58.2

Total operating lease payments $ 395 $ 952 $ 134.7
Less: Present value adjustment (19.7)

Total operating lease liabilities $ 115.0

12
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Lessor

Our Leasing Group enters into railcar operating leases with third parties with terms generally ranging between one year and ten years . The majority of
our fleet operates on leases that earn fixed monthly lease payments. Generally, lease payments are due at the beginning of the applicable month. A
portion of our fleet operates on per diem leases that earn usage-based variable lease payments. Some of our leases include options to extend the leases
for up tofive years, and a small percentage of our leases include early termination options with certain notice requirements and early termination
penalties. As of June 30, 2024, non-lease fleet operating leases in which we are the lessor were not significant, and we had no direct finance leases.

We manage risks associated with residual values of leased railcars by investing across a diverse portfolio of railcar types, staggering lease maturities
within any given railcar type, avoiding concentration of railcar type and industry, and actively participating in secondary markets. Additionally, our lease
agreements contain normal wear and tear return condition provisions and high mileage thresholds designed to protect the value of our residual assets.
Our lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or restrictive covenants.

The following table summarizes the impact of our leases on our Consolidated Statements of Operations:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2024 2023 2024 2023
(in millions)
Operating lease revenues $ 196.0 $ 1819 $ 3878 $ 358.6
Variable operating lease revenues $ 208 $ 181 $ 345 % 32.7
Interest income on sales-type lease receivables $ 01 $ 02 $ 03 $ 0.4

Future contractual minimum revenues for operating leases will mature as follows (in millions) ®:

Remaining six months of 2024 $ 362.9
2025 623.5
2026 503.0
2027 377.9
2028 236.1
Thereafter 345.9

Total $ 2,449.3

(@) Total contractual minimum rental revenues on operating leases relates to our wholly-owned and partially-owned subsidiaries and sub-lease rental revenues associated with the

Leasing Group's operating lease obligations.

Future contractual minimum lease receivables for sales-type leases will mature as follows (in millions):

Remaining six months of 2024 $ 0.6
2025 1.1
2026 1.1
2027 1.1
2028 11
Thereafter 9.0
Total 14.0
Less: Unearned interest income (4.0)
Net investment in sales-type leases ) $ 10.0

(@) Included in other assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheets .
Financial Instruments

We consider all highly liquid debt instruments to be either cash and cash equivalents if purchased with a maturity of three months or less, or short-term
marketable securities if purchased with a maturity of more than three months and less than one year.
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Financial instruments that potentially subject us to a concentration of credit risk are primarily cash investments, including restricted cash and
receivables. We place our cash investments in bank deposits, investment grade short-term debt instruments, highly-rated money market funds, and
highly-rated commercial paper. We limit the amount of credit exposure to any one commercial issuer. The carrying values of cash, receivables, and
accounts payable are considered to be representative of their respective fair values.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to receivables are limited due to control procedures that monitor the credit worthiness of customers, the large
number of customers in our customer base, and their dispersion across different end markets and geographic areas. Receivables are generally evaluated
at a portfolio level based on these characteristics. As receivables are generally unsecured, we maintain an allowance for credit losses using a forward-
looking approach based on historical losses and consideration of current and expected future economic conditions. Historically, we have observed that the
likelihood of loss increases when receivables have aged beyond 180 days. When a receivable is deemed uncollectible, the write-off is recorded as a
reduction to the allowance for credit losses. During the six months ended June 30, 2024, we recognized approximately $ 2.3 million of credit loss expense
and wrote off $ 1.0 million related to our trade receivables that are in the scope of ASC 326, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses, bringing the allowanci
for credit losses balance from $12.8 million at December 31, 2023 to $ 14.1 million at June 30, 2024. This balance excludes the general reserve for
operating lease receivables that is permitted under ASC 450, Contingencies .

Supply Chain Finance Program

In cooperation with a participating financial institution, we facilitate a voluntary supply chain finance ("SCF") program for several of our suppliers. We
negotiate payment terms with suppliers that are in line with average industry terms. We have not pledged any assets as security or provided other forms
of guarantees to the financial institution. Under the SCF program, participating suppliers may choose to sell, at a discounted price, receivables due from
us to the financial institution, at the sole discretion of both the suppliers and the financial institution, prior to the invoices’ scheduled due dates. The
payment terms that we negotiate with all suppliers are consistent regardless of whether the supplier chooses to participate in the SCF program for a
particular invoice. The SCF program is administered by a third-party financial institution, and our responsibility is limited to making payments based on the
terms originally negotiated with participating suppliers, regardless of whether such suppliers sell receivables to the financial institution.

Amounts due to our participating suppliers in the SCF program totaled $ 18.6 million and $ 18.3 million as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023,
respectively, and are included in accounts payable in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Payments made under the SCF program are reflected in net cash
provided by operating activities from continuing operations in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Goodwill

Goodwill by segment is as follows:
June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

Railcar Leasing and Services Group $ 506 $ 50.6
Rail Products Group 170.9 170.9
$ 2215 $ 221.5
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Warranties

We provide various express, limited product warranties that generally range from one year to five years depending on the product. The warranty costs
are estimated using a two-step approach. First, an engineering estimate is made for the cost of all claims that have been asserted by customers. Second,
based on historical claims experience, a cost is accrued for all products still within a warranty period for which no claims have been filed. We provide for
the estimated cost of product warranties at the time revenue is recognized related to products covered by warranties and assess the adequacy of the
resulting reserves on a quarterly basis. The changes in the accruals for warranties for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 are as
follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2024 2023 2024 2023
(in millions)

Beginning balance $ 28 % 39 $ 33 % 3.3
Warranty costs incurred (0.2) (05) (0.4) (0.5)
Warranty originations and revisions 0.4 2.0 0.2 3.0
Warranty expirations (0.2) (0.2) (0.3) (0.6)

Ending balance $ 28 $ 52 $ 28 $ 5.2

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Not Yet Adopted

ASU 2023-07 —In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-07, "Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures,” which improves
disclosures about a public entity's reportable segments through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. ASU 2023-07 requires
disclosures, on an annual and interim basis, of significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to the CODM, the amount for other segment
items by reportable segment and a description of its composition, the title and position of the CODM, and interim period disclosure of all current ASC 280,
Segment Reporting, annual disclosures about a reportable segment's profit or loss and assets. ASU 2023-07 is effective for public companies during
annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2023 and during interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2024 and is to be
adopted on a retrospective basis. Early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact ASU 2023-07 will have on our segment reporting
disclosures.

ASU 2023-09 — In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09, “"Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures," which enhances transparency and
decision usefulness of income tax disclosures. ASU 2023-09 requires, on an annual basis, a tabular disclosure using specific categories in the rate
reconciliation and providing additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold, as well as the disaggregation of income taxes
paid by federal, state, and foreign jurisdictions. ASU 2023-09 is effective for public companies during annual reporting periods beginning after December
15, 2024 on a prospective basis, with an option for retrospective application. Early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact ASU-
2023-09 will have on our income tax disclosures.
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Note 2. Acquisitions and Discontinued Operations
Acquisitions
Acquisition of Holden America

In December 2022, we acquired Holden America, a manufacturer of market-leading multi-level vehicle securement and protection systems, gravity-
outlet gates, and gate accessories for freight rail in North America. The purchase agreement included minimum additional consideration of $ 10.0 million,
which is payable in installments of $5.0 million per year in each of 2024 and 2025. The purchase agreement also contained a provision whereby
additional consideration could become payable based on the achievement of certain revenue targets, up to a maximum payout of $ 10.0 million.

The total additional consideration, which is included in other liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets, had an estimated fair value of $20.0 million
as of December 31, 2023 and is remeasured at each reporting period using Level 3 inputs. During the six months ended June 30, 2024, the first
installment of the additional consideration, totaling $ 10.0 million, was paid. This payment is reflected in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, of
which $ 8.0 million related to the initial estimated fair value is included in financing activities, and $ 2.0 million related to the remeasurement of the initial
estimated fair value is included in operating activities. As of June 30, 2024, the estimated fair value of the remaining additional consideration was $ 10.0
million.

Acquisition of RSI Logistics

In March 2023, we acquired RSI Logistics ("RSI"), a data-centric provider of proprietary software and logistics and terminal management solutions to the
North American rail industry. This transaction was recorded as a business combination within the Leasing Group, based on valuations of the acquired
assets and liabilities at their acquisition date fair value using Level 3 inputs. Based on our purchase price allocation, we recorded identifiable intangible
assets of $ 35.7 million, goodwill of $ 25.6 million, and certain other immaterial assets and liabilities. The identifiable intangible assets, with the exception
of the trade name, which is considered an indefinite-lived intangible asset, are being amortized over their estimated useful lives, ranging from 5 years to
15 years.

Discontinued Operations
Sale of Highway Products Business

In the fourth quarter of 2021, we completed the sale of Trinity Highway Products, LLC (“THP”). Upon completion of the sale, the accounting
requirements for reporting THP as a discontinued operation were met. In connection with the sale, the Company agreed to indemnify Rush Hour for
certain liabilities related to the highway products business, including certain liabilities resulting from or arising out of the ET-Plus® System, a highway
guardrail end-terminal system (the “ET Plus”). Consequently, results from discontinued operations include certain legal expenses that are directly
attributable to the highway products business. Similar expenses related to these retained obligations that may be incurred in the future will likewise be
reported in discontinued operations. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, we recorded expenses related to these obligations of $ 2.2
million ($ 1.7 million, net of income taxes) and $ 7.8 million ($ 6.0 million, net of income taxes), respectively. For the three and six months ended June 30,
2023, we recorded expenses related to these obligations of $ 3.0 million ($ 2.3 million, net of income taxes) and $ 6.9 million ($ 5.4 million, net of income
taxes), respectively. These expenses are included in loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes in our Consolidated Statements of
Operations. See Note 14 for further information regarding obligations retained in connection with the THP sale.
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Note 3. Derivative Instruments and Fair Value Measurements
Derivative Instruments

We use derivative instruments to mitigate interest rate risk, including risks associated with the impact of changes in interest rates in anticipation of future
debt issuances and to offset interest rate variability of certain floating rate debt issuances outstanding. We also use derivative instruments to mitigate the
impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are accounted for by
recording the effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivative instrument in accumulated other comprehensive income or loss ("AOCI") as a separate
component of stockholders' equity. These accumulated gains or losses are reclassified into earnings in the periods during which the hedged transactions
affect earnings. Derivative instruments that are not designated as hedges are accounted for by recording the realized and unrealized gains or losses on
the derivative instrument in other, net (income) expense in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. We continuously monitor our derivative positions
and the credit ratings of our counterparties and do not anticipate losses due to non-performance. See Note 8 for a description of our debt instruments.

Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments
Interest Rate Hedges

Included in accompanying balance sheet
at June 30, 2024

AOCI - lossl(income)

Notional Interest Rate Controlling Noncontrolling
Amount @ Asset/(Liability) Interest Interest

($ in millions)

Expired hedges:

2018 secured railcar equipment notes $ 2493 441 % $ — 3 02 $ —

Tribute Rail secured railcar equipment notes $ 256.0 286 % $ — 3 03 $ 0.4

2017 promissory notes — interest rate cap $ 169.3 3.00 % $ — 8 (01) $ —
Open hedges:

2017 promissory notes — interest rate swap $ 3947 231 % $ 127 % (123) $ —

TRL-2023 term loan $ 263.2 379 % $ 29 $ (28) $ —

@ Weighted average fixed interest rate, except for the interest rate cap on the 2017 promissory notes .

Effect on interest expense - increasel(decrease)

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended Expected effect
June 30, June 30, during next twelve
2024 2023 2024 2023 months
(in millions)
Expired hedges:
2018 secured railcar equipment notes $ 01 $ 01 $ 01 $ 01 $ 0.2
TRIP Holdings warehouse loan $ — 3 — 5 — 3 01 $ =
Tribute Rail secured railcar equipment notes $ 01 $ 02 $ 03 $ 04 $ 0.7
2017 promissory notes — interest rate cap $ — 8 — $ — 3 — $ (0.1)
Open hedges ®:
2017 promissory notes — interest rate swap $ (3.0 $ 29 $ 6.1 $ (5.4) $ (12.2)
TRL-2023 term loan $ (1.1) $ (0.2) $ (2.1) $ (0.2) $ (2.9)

(1) Based on the fair value of open hedges as of June 30, 2024.
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Foreign Currency Hedges

Our exposure related to foreign currency transactions is currently hedged for up to a maximum of eighteen months. Information related to our foreign
currency hedges is as follows:

Included in
accompanying balance Effect on cost of revenues -
sheet at June 30, 2024 increasel(decrease)
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended Expected effect
Notional Asset/ AOCI - June 30, June 30, during next twelve
Instrument Amount (Liability) loss/(income) 2024 2023 2024 2023 months @
(in millions)
Forward contracts $ 1283 $ (45) $ 33 $ 31 $ 22 $ 4.6) $ 39 $ 3.0
Options @ $ — 8 — 3 01 % 0.1) $ — 3 02 % — $ 0.1

() Based on the fair value of open hedges as of June 30, 2024.
@ The foreign currency options matured in June 2024 .
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments (V)

Effect on other, net (income) expense -

increasel(decrease)
Asset/(Liability) Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
Notional Interest at June 30, June 30,
Amount Rate June 30, 2024 2024 2023 2024 2023
($ in millions)
Interest rate derivatives — open:
TILC warehouse facility — interestrate cap $  680.0 250 % $ 3B5 % 44 $ — 3 37 % —
TILC — interest rate cap @ $ 680.0 250 % $ (355) $ 44 $ — % 68 $ —
Interest rate derivatives — expired ©):
TILC warehouse facility — interestrate cap $  800.0 250 % $ — % 09 $ 4.3) $ 19 $ (5.2)
TILC — interest rate cap $ 800.0 250 % $ — 3 0.9) $ 43 % 1.9 $ 5.2

@ Comprised of back-to-back interest rate caps entered into with the same counterparty in connection with our risk management objectives.

(@ The amount recorded to other, net (income) expense in our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the six months ended June 30, 2024 includes a fee of $ 3.1 million related
to the execution of back-to-back interest rate caps associated with the new TILC warehouse loan facility. See Note 8 for further information.

() These interest rate caps matured in March 2024 and were settled in April 2024.
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Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most
advantageous market for that asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. An entity is required to
establish a fair value hierarchy that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The
three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value are listed below.

Level 1 — This level is defined as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Our cash equivalents and restricted cash are
instruments of the U.S. Treasury or highly-rated money market mutual funds. The assets measured on a recurring basis as Level 1 in the fair value
hierarchy are summarized below:

Level 1
June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

(in millions)

Assets:
Cash equivalents $ 1242  $ 78.7
Restricted cash 107.1 129.4
Total assets $ 2313 % 208.1

Level 2 — This level is defined as observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in
markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the
assets or liabilities. Interest rate swaps and interest rate caps are valued at exit prices obtained from each counterparty. Foreign currency hedges are
valued at exit prices obtained from each counterparty, which are based on currency spot and forward rates and forward points. The assets and liabilities
measured on a recurring basis as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy are summarized below:

Level 2
June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

(in millions)
Assets @)
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:

Interest rate hedges $ 156 $ 13.1

Foreign currency forward contracts — 5.8

Foreign currency options — 1.0

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:

TILC warehouse facility — interest rate caps 35.5 6.6
Total assets $ 511 $ 26.5
Liabilities @)

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
Interest rate hedges $ — 8 25
Foreign currency foreign contracts 4.5 —
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:

TILC — interest rate caps 35.5 6.6

Total liabilities $ 400 $ 9.1

@ Included in other assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
@) Included in accrued liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Level 3 — This level is defined as unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the
assets or liabilities. As of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, we have no assets or liabilities measured on a recurring basis as Level 3 in the fair
value hierarchy, except as described in Note 2.

See Note 2 for more information regarding fair value measurements involving Level 3 inputs resulting from acquisition activity. See Note 8 for the
estimated fair values of our debt instruments. The fair values of all other financial instruments are estimated to approximate carrying value.
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Note 4. Segment Information

We report our operating results in two reportable segments: (1) the Railcar Leasing and Services Group, which owns and operates a fleet of railcars
and provides third-party fleet leasing, management, and administrative services; railcar maintenance and modification services; and other railcar logistics
products and services; and (2) the Rail Products Group, which manufactures and sells railcars and related parts and components.

Effective January 1, 2024, the Company modified its organizational structure to better leverage our maintenance services capabilities to support lease
fleet optimization and to grow our services and parts businesses. The new structure resulted in a change to our reportable segments beginning in 2024. In
connection with this organizational update, we aligned the maintenance services business, which was previously reported in the Rail Products Group, to
now be presented within our leasing business. This change aligns with the way in which our CODM assesses performance and allocates resources.
Consequently, beginning January 1, 2024, we report our operating results in two reportable segments: (1) the Railcar Leasing and Services Group,
formerly the Railcar Leasing and Management Services Group, and (2) the Rail Products Group. These changes had no impact to our previously reported
consolidated results of operations, financial position, or cash flows. All prior period segment results set forth herein have been recast to reflect these
changes and present results on a comparable basis.

Gains and losses from the sale of property, plant, and equipment are included in the operating profit of each respective segment. Our CODM regularly
reviews the operating results of our reportable segments in order to assess performance and allocate resources. Our CODM does not consider
restructuring activities when evaluating segment operating results; therefore, restructuring activities are not allocated to segment profit or loss.

Sales and related net profits ("deferred profit*) from the Rail Products Group to the Leasing Group are recorded in the Rail Products Group and
eliminated in consolidation. Sales between these groups are recorded at prices comparable to those charged to external customers, taking into
consideration quantity, features, and production demand. Amortization of deferred profit on railcars sold to the Leasing Group is included in the operating
profit of the Leasing Group, resulting in the recognition of depreciation expense based on our original manufacturing cost of the railcars. Lease portfolio
sales are included in the Leasing Group, with related gains and losses computed based on the net book value of the original manufacturing cost of the
railcars.

The financial information for these segments is shown in the tables below (in millions). We operate principally in North America.

Three Months Ended June 30, 2024

Railcar Leasing and

Services Group Rail Products Group Eliminations Consolidated Total

External revenue $ 2805 $ 5609 $ — 3 841.4
Intersegment revenue 0.9 73.3 (74.2) —
Total revenues $ 2814 $ 6342 $ (74.2) $ 841.4

Three Months Ended June 30, 2023

Railcar Leasing and

Services Group Rail Products Group Eliminations Consolidated Total

External revenue $ 2678 $ 4546 $ — % 722.4
Intersegment revenue 0.5 200.8 (201.3) —
Total revenues $ 2683 $ 655.4 $ (201.3) $ 722.4

Six Months Ended June 30, 2024

Railcar Leasing and

Services Group Rail Products Group Eliminations Consolidated Total

External revenue $ 564.8 $ 1,086.2 $ — % 1,651.0
Intersegment revenue 18 215.4 (217.2) —
Total revenues $ 566.6 $ 1,3016 $ (217.2) $ 1,651.0
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2023

Railcar Leasing and

Services Group Rail Products Group Eliminations Consolidated Total

External revenue $ 5005 $ 8636 $ — % 1,364.1
Intersegment revenue 0.7 379.4 (380.1) —
Total revenues $ 501.2 $ 1,2430 $ (380.1) $ 1,364.1

The reconciliation of segment operating profit to consolidated net income is as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2024 2023 2024 2023
(in millions)
Operating profit:
Railcar Leasing and Services Group $ 1280 $ 116.1  $ 2283 % 200.7
Rail Products Group 50.4 24.3 94.2 48.4
Segment Totals 178.4 140.4 322.5 249.1
Corporate and other (33.3) (31.6) (59.8) (57.6)
Restructuring activities, net — 1.8 — 2.2
Eliminations (3.2) (115) (5.6) (25.6)
Consolidated operating profit 141.9 99.1 257.1 168.1
Other (income) expense 66.7 68.2 139.2 131.9
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 17.1 7.4 28.1 (4.1)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes (1.7) (2.3) (6.0) (5.4)
Net income $ 564 $ 212 $ 838 § 34.9

Note 5. Partially-Owned Subsidiaries
Investments in Leasing Subsidiaries

Through our wholly-owned subsidiary, TILC, we formed two subsidiaries, TRIP Holdings and RIV 2013, for the purpose of providing railcar leasing
services in North America for institutional investors. Each of TRIP Holdings and RIV 2013 are direct, partially-owned subsidiaries of TILC in which we have
a controlling interest. Each is governed by a seven -member board of representatives, two of whom are designated by TILC. TILC is the agent of each of
TRIP Holdings and RIV 2013 and, as such, has been delegated the authority, power, and discretion to take certain actions on behalf of the respective
companies.

At June 30, 2024, the carrying value of our investment in TRIP Holdings and RIV 2013 totaled $ 123.9 million. Our weighted average ownership interest
in TRIP Holdings and RIV 2013 is 38 % while the remaining 62 % weighted average interest is owned by third-party, investor-owned funds. The
investment in our partially-owned leasing subsidiaries is eliminated in consolidation.

Each of TRIP Holdings and RIV 2013 has wholly-owned subsidiaries that are the owners of railcars acquired from our Rail Products and Leasing
Groups. TRIP Holdings has wholly-owned subsidiaries known as Triumph Rail LLC (“Triumph Rail*) and Tribute Rail LLC (“Tribute Rail"). RIV 2013 has a
wholly-owned subsidiary known as TRP 2021 LLC ("TRP-2021"). TILC is the contractual servicer for Triumph Rail, Tribute Rail, and TRP-2021, with the
authority to manage and service each entity's owned railcars. Our controlling interest in each of TRIP Holdings and RIV 2013 results from our combined
role as both equity member and agent/servicer. The noncontrolling interest included in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets primarily
represents the non-Trinity equity interest in these partially-owned subsidiaries.

Trinity has no obligation to guarantee performance under any of our partially-owned subsidiaries' (or their respective subsidiaries') debt agreements,
guarantee any railcar residual values, shield any parties from losses or guarantee minimum yields.
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The assets of each of Triumph Rail, Tribute Rail, and TRP-2021 may only be used to satisfy the particular subsidiary's liabilities, and the creditors of
each of Triumph Rail, Tribute Rail, and TRP-2021 have recourse only to the particular subsidiary's assets. Each of TILC and the third-party equity
investors receive distributions from TRIP Holdings and RIV 2013, when available, in proportion to its respective equity interests, and has an interest in the
net assets of the partially-owned subsidiaries upon a liquidation event in the same proportion. TILC is paid fees for the services it provides to Triumph
Rail, Tribute Rail, and TRP-2021 and has the potential to earn certain incentive fees. There are no remaining equity commitments with respect to TRIP
Holdings or RIV 2013.

See Note 8 for additional information regarding the debt of TRIP Holdings and RIV 2013 and their respective subsidiaries.
Other Investment in Consolidated Affiliate

In 2023, the Company and a third party formed Trinity Global Ventures to deliver railcars and provide warranty support services in Saudi Arabia. Trinity
Global Ventures is owned 51.0 % by Trinity Rail Group, LLC ("Trinity Rail Group"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and 49.0 % by the third
party. Upon consideration under the variable interest entity (“VIE”) model of ASC 810, Consolidation, Trinity has concluded that Trinity Global Ventures
meets the definition of a VIE. Trinity Rail Group has a variable interest in Trinity Global Ventures arising from its 51.0 % equity ownership position. We
determined that Trinity is the primary beneficiary and therefore consolidates this entity as we have the power to direct the activities of the entity that most
significantly impact its economic performance. At June 30, 2024, the carrying value of our investment in Trinity Global Ventures totaled $ 2.6 million,
which is eliminated in consolidation.

Investment in Unconsolidated Affiliate

In 2021, the Company and Wafra, Inc. (“Wafra”), a global alternative investment manager, entered into a railcar investment vehicle program between
Trinity and certain funds managed by Wafra (“Wafra Funds”). As part of this program, a joint venture was formed, Signal Rail Holdings LLC (“Signal Rail"),
which is currently owned 87.3 % by Wafra Funds and 12.7 % by TILC. TILC services all railcars owned by Signal Rail.

In May 2024, TILC and certain of its subsidiaries sold a portfolio comprised of 1,315 railcars and related leases to Signal Rail for an aggregate sales
price of approximately $ 142.8 million. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, TILC recognized a gain of approximately $ 18.8 million on
the sale and approximately $ 1.4 million was recognized as revenue for services performed associated with the delivery of railcars with attached leases.
In connection with the sale, TILC contributed $ 2.0 million of cash to Signal Rail, resulting in a change to TILC's weighted average equity ownership in
Signal Rail to 12.7 %. Signal Rail financed the May 2024 purchase primarily through an asset-backed securitization. To date, TILC has sold 7,775 railcars
and related leases to Signal Rail for an aggregate sales price of $ 741.4 million.

Upon consideration under the VIE model of ASC 810, Consolidation, Trinity has concluded that Signal Rail meets the definition of a VIE. TILC has
variable interests in Signal Rail arising from its 12.7 % equity ownership position and its role as a service provider. We determined that Trinity is not the
primary beneficiary and therefore does not consolidate this entity as we do not have the power to direct the activities of the entity that most significantly
impact its economic performance. We will absorb portions of Signal Rail's expected losses and/or receive portions of expected residual returns
commensurate with our 12.7 % equity interest in Signal Rail.

Our investment in Signal Rail is being accounted for under the equity method of accounting. At June 30, 2024, the carrying value of TILC's equity
investment in Signal Rail was $ 21.8 million, which is included in other assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. The carrying value of this investment
represents our maximum exposure in Signal Rail.
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Note 6. Railcar Leasing and Services Group

The Railcar Leasing and Services Group owns and operates a fleet of railcars and provides third-party fleet leasing, management, and administrative
services; railcar maintenance and modification services; and other railcar logistics products and services. Information related to the Leasing Group is as

Six Months Ended June 30,

Percent

Change

8.9 %
8.6 %
(45.9 )%
49 %

(6.1)%
31.6 %

*

*

10.2 %

1.5 %
6.7 %
(1.2)%

follows:
Three Months Ended June 30,
2024 2023
($ in millions)

Revenues:

Leasing and management $ 221.9 $ 203.8

Maintenance services () 49.0 45.1

Digital and logistics services 10.5 19.4
Total revenues $ 281.4 $ 268.3
Cost of revenues @ $ 157.4 $ 167.6
Selling, engineering, and administrative expenses 20.0 15.2
Gains on dispositions of property:

Lease portfolio sales 22.7 29.8

Other 1.3 0.8
Total operating profit $ 128.0 $ 116.1
Total operating profit margin 455 % 433 %
To;zlr:f)(;:l?(:itiar;gsprofit margin, excluding lease 374 % 322 %
Selected expense information for Company-

owned railcars ©);

Depreciation and amortization expense “) $ 60.1 $ 59.2

Maintenance and compliance expense ©) $ 35.0 $ 32.8

Other fleet operating costs © $ 8.1 $ 8.2

Interest expense (1 $ 60.4 $ 57.0

* Not meaningful

6.0 %

2024

2023

($ in millions)

$ 430.9 $ 398.5
114.2 74.5
215 28.2
$ 566.6 $ 501.2
327.0 314.4
38.1 32.1
24.8 43.3
2.0 2.7
$ 228.3 $ 200.7
40.3 % 40.0 %
359 % 314 %
$ 120.0 $ 120.8
$ 65.4 $ 67.6
$ 15.8 $ 17.4
$ 117.8 $ 111.8

Percent

Change

8.1 %
533 %
(23.8)%
13.0 %

40 %
18.7 %

13.8 %

(0.7 )%
(33)%
(9.2)%

54 %

() Revenues related to services performed by the maintenance services business to support the railcars in our lease fleet are eliminated within the Railcar Leasing & Services Group

and are excluded from the totals reported on this line.

@ Includes depreciation and amortization expense, maintenance and compliance expense, and other fleet operating costs related to our lease fleet, as well as operating costs for

our maintenance services and digital and logistics services businesses.

®) Includes wholly-owned railcars, partially-owned railcars, and railcars under leased-in arrangements.

() Depreciation and amortization expense includes $ 0.8 million and $ 5.5 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively, related to the disposal of certain

railcar components associated with our sustainable railcar conversion program. Additionally, amortization of deferred profit on railcars sold from the Rail Products Group to the

Leasing Group is included in depreciation and amortization expense, resulting in the recognition of depreciation expense based on our original manufacturing cost of the railcars.

() Maintenance and compliance expense is reported at cost with respect to the services performed by our maintenance services business to support the railcars in our lease fleet.

(6) Other fleet operating costs include freight, storage, rent, and ad valorem taxes.

() Interest expense is not a component of operating profit and includes the effect of hedges.
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Information related to lease portfolio sales is as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

($ in millions)

Lease portfolio sales $ 162.5 $ 129.0 $ 186.7 $ 185.7
Operating profit on lease portfolio sales $ 22.7 $ 29.8 $ 24.8 $ 433
Operating profit margin on lease portfolio sales 140 % 231 % 133 % 233 %

Railcar Leasing Equipment Portfolio. The Leasing Group's equipment consists primarily of railcars leased by third parties. The Leasing Group
purchases equipment manufactured predominantly by the Rail Products Group and enters into lease contracts with third parties with terms generally
ranging between one year and ten years . The Leasing Group primarily enters into operating leases. Future contractual minimum rental revenues on
operating leases related to our wholly-owned and partially-owned subsidiaries are as follows:

Remaining six

months of 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 Thereafter Total
(in millions)
Future contractual minimum rental
$ 3571 $ 613.8 $ 4958 $ 3756 $ 2354 % 3442 $ 24219

revenues

Debt. Wholly-owned subsidiaries. The Leasing Group’s debt at June 30, 2024 consisted primarily of non-recourse debt. As of June 30, 2024, Trinity's
wholly-owned subsidiaries included in the Leasing Group held equipment with a net book value of $ 5,592.5 million, which is pledged solely as collateral
for Leasing Group debt held by those subsidiaries. The net book value of unpledged equipment at June 30, 2024 was $ 291.7 million. See Note 8 for
more information regarding the Leasing Group’s debt.

Partially-owned subsidiaries. Debt owed by TRIP Holdings and RIV 2013 and their respective subsidiaries is non-recourse to Trinity and TILC. Creditors
of each of TRIP Holdings and RIV 2013 and their respective subsidiaries have recourse only to the particular subsidiary's assets. As of June 30, 2024,
TRIP Holdings held equipment with a net book value of $ 1,026.2 million, which is pledged solely as collateral for the TRIP Holdings' debt held by its
subsidiaries. As of June 30, 2024, TRP-2021 equipment with a net book value of $ 420.6 million is pledged solely as collateral for the TRP-2021 debt.
See Note 5 for a description of TRIP Holdings and RIV 2013 and their respective subsidiaries.

Operating Lease Obligations. Future amounts due as well as future contractual minimum rental revenues related to the Leasing Group's railcar
operating lease obligations are as follows:

Remaining six

months of 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 Thereafter Total
(in millions)
Future operating lease obligations $ 44 % 83 $ 77 % 72 % 51 $ 68 $ 39.5
Fut tractual mini tal
uture contractual minimum renta $ 58 $ 97 % 72 23§ 07 % 17 s 274
revenues

Operating lease obligations totaling $ 0.7 million are guaranteed by Trinity Industries, Inc. and certain subsidiaries.
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Note 7. Property, Plant, and Equipment

The following table summarizes the components of property, plant, and equipment:

June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

(in millions)
Railcars in our lease fleet:
Wholly-owned subsidiaries:
Equipment on lease $ 75709 $ 7,536.7
Less: accumulated depreciation (1,686.7) (1,604.9)
5,884.2 5,931.8
Partially-owned subsidiaries:
Equipment on lease 2,239.0 2,236.6
Less: accumulated depreciation (792.2) (763.4)
1,446.8 1,473.2
Deferred profit on railcar products sold @ (1,054.0) (1,061.3)
Less: accumulated amortization 324.1 3111
(729.9) (750.2)
Total railcars in our lease fleet 6,601.1 6,654.8
Operating and administrative assets:
Land 16.3 16.1
Buildings and improvements 383.7 380.4
Machinery and other 422.6 419.8
Construction in progress 145 11.3
837.1 827.6
Less: accumulated depreciation (495.9) (477.6)
Total operating and administrative assets 341.2 350.0
Total property, plant, and equipment, net $ 6,9423 $ 7,004.8

@) Includes deferred profit related to new railcar additions, sustainable railcar conversions, railcar madifications, and other betterments. The deferred profit is subsequently eliminated
in consolidation.
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Note 8. Debt
The carrying amounts of our debt are as follows:

June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

(in millions)
Corporate — Recourse:
Revolving credit facility $ — 3 —
Senior notes due 2024, net of unamortized discount of $ — and $ 0.1 — 399.9
Senior notes due 2028, inclusive of unamortized premium of $ 4.9 and $ — 604.9 400.0
604.9 799.9
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs (7.4) (5.3)
Total recourse debt 597.5 794.6
Lease fleet — Non-recourse:
Wholly-owned subsidiaries:
Secured railcar equipment notes, net of unamortized discount of $ 0.3 and $ 0.2 2,516.6 2,246.7
2017 promissory notes, net of unamortized discount of $ 2.5 and $ 3.5 652.5 673.7
TRL-2023 term loan 329.0 334.5
TILC warehouse facility 488.2 529.3
Other equipment financing 51.2 52.3
4,037.5 3,836.5
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs (17.9) (17.3)
4,019.6 3,819.2
Partially-owned subsidiaries:
Secured railcar equipment notes, net of unamortized discount of $ 0.1 and $ 0.1 1,116.5 1,147.8
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs (6.2) (7.4)
1,110.3 1,140.4
Total non-recourse debt 5,129.9 4,959.6
Total debt $ 57274 $ 5,754.2

Estimated Fair Value of Debt — The estimated fair values of our 7.75 % senior notes due 2028 ("Senior Notes due 2028") and our 4.55 % senior notes
due 2024 ("Senior Notes due 2024") are based on a quoted market price in a market with little activity (Level 2 input). The estimated fair values of our
secured railcar equipment notes are based on our estimate of their fair value using unobservable input values provided by a third party (Level 3 inputs).
The respective carrying values of our revolving credit facility, 2017 promissory notes, TRL-2023 term loan, and TILC warehouse facility approximate fair
value because the interest rate adjusts to the market interest rate. As of June 30, 2024, we evaluated the fair value of the other equipment financing
liability using Level 3 inputs and determined that the carrying value approximates fair value. The estimated fair values of our debt are as follows:

June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

(in millions)
Level 2 $ 620.1 $ 812.1
Level 3 $ 3,4659 $ 3,192.7

Revolving Credit Facility — We have a $ 600.0 million unsecured corporate revolving credit facility. During the six months ended June 30, 2024, we had
total borrowings of $ 190.0 million and total repayments of $ 190.0 million under the revolving credit facility. Additionally, we had outstanding letters of
credit issued in an aggregate amount of $ 5.2 million, leaving $ 594.8 million available for borrowing as of June 30, 2024. The majority of our outstanding
letters of credit as of June 30, 2024 are scheduled to expire in November 2024. Our letters of credit obligations support performance bonds related to
certain railcar orders. The revolving credit facility bears interest at a variable rate of SOFR plus (1) a benchmark adjustment of 10 basis points and (2) a
facility margin of 1.75 %, for an all-in interest rate of 7.19 % as of June 30, 2024. A commitment fee accrues on the average daily unused portion of the
revolving credit facility at the rate of 0.175 % to 0.40 % ( 0.25 % as of June 30, 2024).
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The revolving credit facility requires the maintenance of ratios related to minimum interest coverage for the leasing and manufacturing operations and
maximum leverage. As of June 30, 2024, we were in compliance with all such financial covenants.

Senior Notes due 2028 — In June 2023, we issued $ 400.0 million aggregate principal amount of 7.75 % senior notes due July 2028. In June 2024, we
issued an additional $200.0 million aggregate principal amount of 7.75 % senior notes due July 2028 (the "Additional Senior Notes"), which increased
the aggregate principal amount from $ 400.0 million to $ 600.0 million. The Additional Senior Notes were issued at a price of 102.5% of the principal
amount. Proceeds received from the issuance totaled approximately $ 209.0 million and included the premium described above and interest deemed to
have accrued from January 15, 2024 through June 4, 2024. The Additional Senior Notes have identical terms and conditions (other than the original issue
date, issue price, the first interest payment date and the first date from which interest will accrue) as the original issuance. Interest on the Additional
Senior Notes is payable semiannually commencing July 15, 2024. We incurred $ 3.0 million in debt issuance costs from the issuance of the Additional
Senior Notes, which will be amortized to interest expense over the term of the Senior Notes due 2028. Net proceeds received from the issuance, together
with cash on hand, were used to repay $ 400.0 million of our Senior Notes due 2024, as described below, and to pay related fees, costs, premiums, and
expenses in connection with the issuance.

Redemption of Senior Notes due 2024 — In June 2024, we redeemed in full $ 400.0 million aggregate principal amount of our 4.55 % senior notes due
2024. Additionally, in connection with the redemption of the Senior Notes due 2024, during the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, we recognized
a loss on extinguishment of debt of $ 0.1 million, which related to the write-off of unamortized discount and debt issuance costs. These charges are
reflected in the interest expense, net line of our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024. As a result of
the redemption of the Senior Notes due 2024, we are no longer required to report supplemental guarantor financial information in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q.

TILC Warehouse Loan Facility — TILC has historically maintained a warehouse loan facility to finance railcars owned by TILC. In March 2024, we
entered into a new warehouse loan facility with a total commitment amount of $ 800.0 million, a revolving termination date of March 15, 2027, and a
maturity date of March 15, 2028. This warehouse loan facility replaced the prior $ 1.0 billion warehouse loan facility. We incurred $ 3.6 million in debt
issuance costs, which are recorded in other assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2024, and are being amortized to interest expense
over the facility term. During the six months ended June 30, 2024, we had total borrowings of $ 905.6 million and total repayments of $ 946.7 million under
the current and prior TILC warehouse loan facilities. Of the remaining unused facility amount of $ 311.8 million, $ 133.3 million was available as of June
30, 2024 based on the amount of warehouse-eligible, unpledged equipment. Advances under the facility bear interest at one-month term SOFR plus a
facility margin of 1.75 %, for an all-in interest rate of 7.08 % at June 30, 2024.

TRL-2024 Secured Railcar Equipment Notes — In May 2024, Trinity Rail Leasing 2021 LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("TRL-2021") and a
limited purpose, indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company owned through TILC, issued an aggregate principal amount of $ 432.4 million of its
Series 2024-1 Class A Green Secured Railcar Equipment Notes (the "TRL-2024 Notes"). The TRL-2024 Notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 5.78 %, are
payable monthly, and have a stated final maturity date of May 19, 2054. We incurred $ 4.2 million in debt issuance costs, which will be amortized to
interest expense through the anticipated repayment date of the TRL-2024 Notes. The TRL-2024 Notes are obligations of TRL-2021 and are non-recourse
to Trinity. The obligations are secured by a portfolio of railcars and operating leases thereon, certain cash reserves, and other assets acquired and owned
by TRL-2021. Net proceeds received from the railcars acquired in connection with the issuance of the TRL-2024 Notes were used to repay approximately
$ 218.9 million of borrowings under TILC's warehouse loan facility; to redeem the outstanding debt of Trinity Rail Leasing VII LLC, as described below;
and for general corporate purposes.

Redemption of TRL-VII Secured Railcar Equipment Notes — In May 2024, with the net proceeds of the TRL-2024 Notes, we redeemed in full Trinity Rail
Leasing VII LLC's Series 2009-1 Secured Railcar Equipment Notes (the "TRL VII Notes"), of which $ 94.1 million was outstanding at the redemption date.
The all-in interest rate for the TRL VII Notes was 6.66 % per annum. In connection with the redemption of the TRL VII Notes, during the three and six
months ended June 30, 2024, we recognized a loss on extinguishment of debt of $ 1.4 million, which included a $ 0.6 million early redemption premium
and a write-off of $ 0.8 million in unamortized debt issuance costs. These charges are reflected in the interest expense, net line of our Consolidated
Statements of Operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024.
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Each of our secured railcar equipment notes, including the TRL-2024 Notes, generally has an anticipated repayment date and a stated final maturity
date. While the stated final maturity date of these notes is in 2054, the cash flows from the encumbered assets of TRL-2021 will be applied, pursuant to
the payment priorities of their respective indentures, so as to amortize their respective notes to achieve monthly targeted principal balances. If the cash
flow assumptions used in determining the targeted balances are met, it is anticipated that the notes will be repaid well in advance of their stated final
maturity date. There can be no assurance, however, that such cash flow assumptions will be realized. If these notes are not repaid by the anticipated
repayment date, the respective interest rate on these notes would increase from the fixed rate stated above.

Terms and conditions of our other debt, including recourse and non-recourse provisions and scheduled maturities, are described in Note 9 of our 2023
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Note 9. Income Taxes

The effective tax rates from continuing operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 were expenses of 22.7 % and 23.8 %,
respectively, which differ from the U.S. statutory rate of 21.0 % primarily due to state income taxes, foreign income taxes, and non-deductible executive
compensation, partially offset by the benefit of noncontrolling interest, for which we do not provide income taxes, excess tax benefits associated with
equity-based compensation, and changes in state tax laws enacted in the second quarter.

The effective tax rate from continuing operations for the three months ended June 30, 2023 was an expense of 23.9 %, which differs from the U.S.
statutory rate of 21.0 % primarily due to state income taxes, foreign income taxes, non-deductible executive compensation, excess tax benefits associated
with equity-based compensation, and taxes not recorded on our non-controlling interests in partially-owned subsidiaries.

The effective tax rate from continuing operations for the six months ended June 30, 2023 was a benefit of 11.3 %, which differs from the U.S. statutory
rate of 21.0 % primarily due to the release of residual taxes out of AOCI; the re-measurement of our net deferred tax liabilities due to the acquisition of a
subsidiary; changes in our valuation allowances; state income taxes; and foreign income taxes.

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, one of our partially-owned subsidiaries released residual tax effects that had previously been recorded in
AOCI. This deferred tax benefit was originally recorded before the partially-owned subsidiary was treated as a flow-through entity, remaining in AOCI until
the underlying book-to-tax difference no longer existed, which occurred during the six months ended June 30, 2023. As a result, we recorded an $ 11.9

million income tax benefit in our Consolidated Statements of Operations during the six months ended June 30, 2023.

Pursuant to the acquisition of a subsidiary during the six months ended June 30, 2023, we re-measured our existing deferred tax assets and liabilities,
taking into account the expected change to state tax apportionment. This resulted in an increase to our net deferred tax liability of $ 3.2 million in the
period, which was recorded through deferred income tax expense.

The tax provision for the six months ended June 30, 2023 also reflects a $ 4.0 million tax benefit related to the net impact of an adjustment to valuation
allowances, primarily for deferred tax assets in Mexico, state tax loss carryforwards, and federal tax credits.

The total income tax receivable position as of June 30, 2024 was $ 4.6 million primarily for state tax overpayments. Our income tax payable for federal,
state, and foreign income taxes is $ 7.6 million as of June 30, 2024.

Deferred income taxes related to railcars in our lease fleet were $ 1.1 billion as of both June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

Our federal tax return years through 2020 are closed under statute and the years 2021-2023 remain open. We have state tax returns that are under
audit in the normal course of business, and the statutes of limitations for our Mexican subsidiaries' tax returns remain open for audit for 2018 and forward.
We believe we are appropriately reserved for any potential matters.

During the three months ended June 30, 2024, Canada enacted a 15% minimum tax on all companies that operate in its jurisdiction, consistent with
one or more Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development Global Anti-Base Erosion Model Rules ("Pillar Two"). We do not expect that
Canada’s enactment of Pillar Two will have a material impact to our income tax expense. Pillar Two legislation has not been enacted in the other
jurisdictions in which we operate, and we will continue to monitor our potential exposure as more jurisdictions adopt these provisions.
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Note 10. Employee Retirement Plans
Amounts related to our employee retirement plans are as follows:

Six Months Ended
Three Months Ended June 30, ix Months Ende

June 30,
2024 2023 2024 2023
(in millions)

Defined contribution expense $ 29 % 26 $ 59 $ 5.0

Note 11. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
Changes in AOCI for the six months ended June 30, 2024 are as follows:

Unrealized
gains/(losses) on Net actuarial Accumulated other
derivative financial gains/(losses) of defined comprehensive income
instruments benefit plans (loss)
(in millions)

Balances at December 31, 2023 $ 124 % (14) $ 11.0
Other comprehensive income, net of tax, before reclassifications 5.9 — 5.9
Ar’;o;gts reclassified from AOCI, net of tax expense of $2.9,, $—, and (93) . (93)
Less: noncontrolling interest (0.2) — (0.2)

Other comprehensive loss (3.6) — (3.6)

Balances at June 30, 2024 $ 88 % (14) $ 7.4

See Note 3 for additional information on the reclassification of amounts in AOCI into earnings. Reclassifications of unrealized before-tax gains and
losses on derivative financial instruments are included in interest expense, net for our interest rate hedges and in cost of revenues for our foreign currency
hedges in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. Reclassifications of before-tax net actuarial gains/(losses) of defined benefit plans are included in
other, net (income) expense in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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Note 12. Common Stock and Stock-Based Compensation
Stockholders' Equity

In December 2022, our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program effective December 9, 2022 with no expiration. The share
repurchase program authorizes the Company to repurchase up to $ 250.0 million of its common stock. During the three and six months ended June 30,
2024, share repurchases totaled 33,900 shares, at a cost of approximately $ 0.9 million, resulting in a remaining authorization to repurchase up to $ 249.1
million of its common stock under the share repurchase program as of June 30, 2024. There were no shares repurchased during the three and six months
ended June 30, 2023.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense totaled approximately $ 5.9 million and $10.6 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024,
respectively. Stock-based compensation expense totaled approximately $ 6.5 million and $ 12.7 million for the three and six months ended June 30,
2023, respectively. The Company's annual grants of share-based awards generally occur in the first and second quarters under our Fifth Amended and
Restated Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the "Plan”). Our stock options have contractual terms of ten years and become exercisable over a three-year
period. Expense related to stock options is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. Expense related to restricted stock units ("RSUs")
issued to eligible employees under the Plan is recognized over the vesting period, generally between three years and four years . Beginning in 2020,
certain RSU grants provide for full vesting when the award recipients retire having reached 60 years of age and having provided at least ten years of
service to the Company, provided that the awards remain outstanding for a period of six months from the date of grant. The expense for these awards is
recognized over the applicable service period for each of the eligible award recipients. Expense related to RSUs and restricted stock awards ("RSAs")
granted to non-employee directors under the Plan is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, generally one year . Expense related to
performance units is recognized on a straight-line basis from their award date to the end of the performance period, generally three years .

The following table summarizes stock-based compensation awards granted during the six months ended June 30, 2024:

Number of Shares  Weighted Average Grant-

Granted Date Fair Value per Award
Restricted stock units 430,185 $ 30.54
Restricted stock awards 15903 $ 30.75
Performance units 241,212 $ 29.56

The fair value of RSUs granted is based on the Company's closing stock price on the date of grant. For the performance units granted during the six
months ended June 30, 2024 for which the payout is based on relative total shareholder return, the fair value was estimated at the date of grant using a
Monte Carlo simulation with assumptions that reflect market conditions at the date of grant, including stock price, risk-free interest rate, expected term,
expected volatility, and dividend yield. For the performance units granted during the six months ended June 30, 2024 for which the payout is based on
return on equity, the fair value is based on the Company's closing stock price on the date of grant, adjusted to exclude the cumulative value of dividends
over the three-year vesting period as these units do not earn dividend equivalents.
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Note 13. Earnings Per Common Share

Basic net income attributable to Trinity Industries, Inc. per common share ("EPS") is computed by dividing net income attributable to Trinity by the
weighted average number of basic common shares outstanding for the period. Except when the effect would be antidilutive, the calculation of diluted EPS
includes the net impact of potentially dilutive common shares. The Company has certain unvested RSAs that participate in dividends on a nonforfeitable
basis and are therefore considered to be participating securities. Consequently, diluted net income attributable to Trinity Industries, Inc. per common
share is calculated under both the two-class method and the treasury stock method, and the more dilutive of the two calculations is presented.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income attributable to Trinity Industries, Inc.

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended

June 30,
2024 2023 2024 2023
(in millions, except per share amounts)

Income from continuing operations $ 581 $ 235 % 89.8 $ 40.3

Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest (2.0) (4.2) (5.7) (135)
Net income from continuing operations attributable to Trinity Industries, Inc. 56.1 19.3 84.1 26.8
Net loss from discontinued operations attributable to Trinity Industries, Inc. (1.7) (2.3) (6.0) (5.4)
Net income attributable to Trinity Industries, Inc. $ 544 $ 170 $ 781 % 21.4
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 82.4 81.2 81.7 81.0

Effect of dilutive securities 1.7 2.2 1.7 25
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 84.1 83.4 83.4 83.5

Basic earnings per common share:

Income from continuing operations $ 068 $ 024 % 103 $ 0.33
Loss from discontinued operations (0.02) (0.03) (0.07) (0.07)
Basic net income attributable to Trinity Industries, Inc. $ 066 $ 021 $ 096 $ 0.26
Diluted earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations $ 067 $ 023 % 101 $ 0.32
Loss from discontinued operations (0.02) (0.03) (0.07) (0.06)
Diluted net income attributable to Trinity Industries, Inc. $ 065 $ 020 $ 094 $ 0.26

Potentially dilutive securities excluded from EPS calculation:
Antidilutive restricted shares 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.1

Antidilutive stock options — — — —
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Note 14. Contingencies
Highway products litigation

We previously reported the filing of a False Claims Act (“FCA”) complaint in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas, Marshall
Division (“District Court”) styled Joshua Harman, on behalf of the United States of America, Plaintiff/Relator v. Trinity Industries, Inc., Defendant , Case No.
2:12-cv-00089-JRG (E.D. Tex.). In this case, in which the U.S. Government declined to intervene, the relator, Mr. Joshua Harman, alleged the Company
violated the FCA pertaining to sales of the ET Plus. On October 20, 2014, a trial in this case concluded with a jury verdict stating that the Company and
THP “knowingly made, used or caused to be made or used, a false record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim,” and the District Court
entered judgment on the verdict in the total amount of $ 682.4 million. On September 29, 2017, the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit
("Fifth Circuit") reversed the District Court’s $ 682.4 million judgment and rendered judgment as a matter of law in favor of the Company and THP. On
January 7, 2019, the United States Supreme Court denied Mr. Harman's petition for certiorari seeking review of the Fifth Circuit's decision. The denial of
Mr. Harman's petition ended this action.

Pursuant to the purchase and sale agreement related to the sale of THP, the Company agreed to indemnify Rush Hour for certain liabilities related to
the highway products business, including those liabilities resulting from or arising out of (a) the proceedings set forth under “State actions” below and (b)
any other proceedings to the extent resulting from or arising out of ET Plus systems or specified ET Plus component parts that were both (i) manufactured
prior to December 31, 2021, and (ii) sold in the United States on or prior to April 30, 2022, or related warranty obligations with respect thereto.

State actions

Mr. Harman has a separate state qui tam action currently pending pursuant to the Virginia Fraud Against Taxpayers Act ("VFATA") ( Commonwealth of
Virginia_ex rel. Joshua M. Harman v. Trinity Industries, Inc. and Trinity Highway Products. LLC, Case No. CL13-698, in the Circuit Court, Richmond,
Virginia). In this matter, Mr. Harman alleged the Company violated the VFATA pertaining to sales of the ET Plus, and he is seeking damages, civil
penalties, attorneys’ fees, costs, and interest. The Commonwealth of Virginia Attorney General has intervened in the Virginia matter. On February 7,
2024, the trial court granted the Company's motion for summary judgment and ordered that the trial dates and hearing dates in this matter be removed
from the court's docket. On July 11, 2024, the trial court denied the Commonwealth of Virginia's motion for reconsideration of the order granting the
Company’s motion for summary judgment.

In a similar New Jersey state qui tam action ( State of New Jersey ex rel. Joshua M. Harman v. Trinity Industries, Inc. and Trinity Highway Products
LLC, Case No.L-1344-14, in the Superior Court of New Jersey Law Division: Mercer County) that was previously dismissed by the trial court, Mr. Harman
sought leave to file an amended complaint pursuant to the New Jersey False Claims Act. On February 16, 2022, the trial court denied Mr. Harman's
motion. On March 9, 2022, Mr. Harman filed a motion for reconsideration of the trial court’s order denying leave to file an amended complaint. On June
27, 2022, the trial court denied Mr. Harman’s motion for reconsideration seeking leave to file an amended complaint with prejudice. On August 9, 2022,
Mr. Harman filed a Notice of Appeal of the trial court's order denying Mr. Harman's motion for reconsideration. Mr. Harman's appeal remains pending.

The Company believes that it has substantial defenses in these matters and intends to vigorously defend against all allegations. Based on information
currently available to the Company and previously disclosed, we currently do not believe that a loss is probable in the state qui tam actions described
under "State actions," therefore no accrual has been included in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements. Because of the complexity of
these actions, as well as the current status of certain of these actions, we are not able to estimate a range of possible losses with respect to any one or
more of these actions. While the financial impacts of these state actions are currently unknown, they could be material.

Product liability cases

The Company is currently defending product liability lawsuits that are alleged to involve the ET Plus as well as other products manufactured by THP.
These cases are diverse in light of the randomness of collisions in general and the fact that each accident involving a roadside device, such as an end
terminal, or any other fixed object along the highway, has its own unique facts and circumstances. The Company carries general liability insurance to
mitigate the impact of adverse judgment exposures in these product liability cases. To the extent that the Company believes that a loss is probable with
respect to these product liability cases, the accrual for such losses is included in the amounts described below under "Other matters".
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East Palestine, OH Train Derailment

On February 3, 2023, a Norfolk Southern Railway freight train derailed 38 railcars in East Palestine, Ohio. In March 2023, the State of Ohio and the
United States Environmental Protection Agency filed lawsuits against Norfolk Southern Railway Company and Norfolk Southern Corporation (“Norfolk
Southern”), which were consolidated in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division in a civil action styled The State
of Ohio, ex rel., Dave Yost, Ohio Attorney General, and the United States of America, Plaintiffs v. Norfolk Southern Railway Company and Norfolk
Southern Corporation, Defendants, Civil Action No. 4:23-cv-00517. In this action, on June 30, 2023, Norfolk Southern filed a third-party complaint against
the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, TILC. Norfolk Southern also named as third-party defendants in this action Oxy Vinyls LP, GATX Corporation,
General American Marks Company, SMBC Rail Services LLC, Dow Chemical Incorporated, and Union Tank Car Company. Norfolk Southern asserts
third-party claims against TILC for recovery of response costs, contribution, and declaratory relief under the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation, and Liability Act ("CERCLA"); negligence; and equitable contribution. TILC was the owner of one tank car cited in this action, which was
leased to a third party, who is also a third-party defendant in the litigation. On September 15, 2023, TILC filed a motion to dismiss Norfolk Southern’s third-
party complaint. On March 6, 2024, the trial court granted TILC's motion to dismiss Norfolk Southern’s Third-Party Complaint and entered an order
dismissing Norfolk Southern’s complaint against TILC. On March 26, 2024, Norfolk Southern filed a Motion for Entry of Partial Final Judgment, which
remains pending.

In April 2023, multiple putative class action lawsuits filed against Norfolk Southern were consolidated in the United States District Court for the Northern
District of Ohio, Eastern Division in a civil action styled In re: East Palestine Train Derailment, Civil Action No. 4:23-CV-00242 ("Consolidated Class
Action"). In this action, on July 25, 2023, Norfolk Southern filed a third-party complaint against the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, TILC. Norfolk
Southern also named as third-party defendants in this action Oxy Vinyls LP, GATX Corporation, and General American Marks Company. Norfolk Southern
asserts third-party claims against TILC for negligence, joint and several liability, and contribution. On August 14, 2023, plaintiffs filed a First Amended
Master Consolidated Class Action Complaint and Jury Demand (“First Amended Complaint”) asserting direct claims for negligence, gross negligence, and
medical monitoring against Oxy Vinyls LP, GATX Corporation, General American Marks Company, and TILC ("Railcar Defendants"). TILC was the owner
of one tank car cited in this action, which was leased to a third party, who is also a third-party defendant in the litigation. On September 15, 2023, TILC
filed a motion to dismiss Norfolk Southern’s third-party complaint, and on September 26, 2023, TILC filed a motion to dismiss plaintiffs’ First Amended
Complaint. On March 13, 2024, the trial court granted in part and denied in part TILC's motion to dismiss Norfolk Southern’s third-party complaint and
TILC’s motion to dismiss plaintiffs’ First Amended Complaint. On April 9, 2024, plaintiffs and Norfolk Southern announced a settlement in principle of
plaintiffs’ claims against Norfolk Southern and the Railcar Defendants. Norfolk Southern preserved its third-party claims against the Railcar Defendants.
The proposed settlement is subject to the court’s approval. On May 22, 2024, the parties filed a joint motion to dismiss with prejudice Norfolk Southern’s
third-party claims against TILC (the “Dismissal Motion”). On June 3, 2024, the court entered an order granting the Dismissal Motion (the “Dismissal
Order”). The Dismissal Order dismisses, with prejudice, all of Norfolk Southern’s claims against TILC, including claims for negligence and contribution.

On December 8, 2023, a lawsuit was filed against TILC titled Ambridge Area School District et al. v. Norfolk Southern Corporation et al. , Case No. 2:23-
cv-01530-CB, in the United States District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania. Plaintiffs in this putative class action lawsuit assert claims
against Norfolk Southern Corporation, Norfolk Southern Railway Company, Oxy Vinyls, LP, GATX Corporation, General American Marks Company, and
TILC for negligence, negligence per se, strict liability, public and private nuisance, future health monitoring, trespass, and punitive damages. On February
23, 2024, TILC filed a motion to dismiss plaintiffs’ amended complaint, which remains pending. TILC was the owner of one tank car cited in this action,
which was leased to a third party, who is also a defendant in the litigation.

On March 8, 2024, a lawsuit was filed against TILC titled Patricia Aimasy et al. v. Norfolk Southern Corporation et al. , Case No. 4:24-cv-00452, in the
United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio (“Almasy Lawsuit”). Plaintiffs assert claims against Norfolk Southern Corporation, Norfolk
Southern Railway Company, Oxy Vinyls, LP, GATX Corporation, General American Marks Company, and TILC. Plaintiffs assert claims against TILC for
negligence, gross negligence, future health monitoring, and willful and wanton conduct. TILC was the owner of one tank car cited in this action, which was
leased to a third party, who is also a defendant in this lawsuit. On March 13, 2024, this lawsuit was consolidated into the Consolidated Class Action
lawsuit.
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The Company believes it has substantial defenses and intends to vigorously defend itself against all allegations in the third-party and direct claims
asserted against TILC. The Company or its subsidiaries could be named in similar litigation involving other plaintiffs, but the ultimate number of claims and
the jurisdiction(s) in which such claims, if any, may be filed may vary. We do not believe at this time that a loss is probable in these matters, nor can a
range of possible losses be determined. Accordingly, n o accrual or range of loss has been included in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements. The Company maintains liability insurance coverage and commercial contractual indemnity rights to protect the Company’s assets from
losses arising from these types of litigation claims.

Other matters

The Company is involved in claims and lawsuits incidental to our business arising from various matters, including product warranty, personal injury,
environmental issues, workplace laws, and various governmental regulations. The Company evaluates its exposure to such claims and suits periodically
and establishes accruals for these contingencies when a range of loss can be reasonably estimated. The range of reasonably possible losses for such
matters is $ 7.5 million to $ 19.0 million. This range includes any amounts related to the Highway Products litigation matters described above in the
section titled “Highway products litigation." At June 30, 2024, total accruals of $ 8.5 million, including environmental and workplace matters described
below, are included in accrued liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company believes any additional liability would not be
material to its financial position or results of operations.

Trinity is subject to remedial orders and federal, state, local, and foreign laws and regulations relating to the environment and the workplace. The
Company has reserved $ 1.3 million to cover our probable and estimable liabilities with respect to the investigations, assessments, and remedial
responses to such matters, taking into account currently available information and our contractual rights to indemnification and recourse to third parties.
However, estimates of liability arising from future proceedings, assessments, or remediation are inherently imprecise. Accordingly, there can be no
assurance that we will not become involved in future litigation or other proceedings involving the environment and the workplace or, if we are found to be
responsible or liable in any such litigation or proceeding, that such costs would not be material to the Company. We believe that we are currently in
substantial compliance with environmental and workplace laws and regulations.

Georgia Fire

On January 16, 2024, a fire damaged a portion of the Company's facility in Cartersville, Georgia. We have incurred costs related to cleanup and
damage remediation activities in order for the facility to resume limited operations, and we expect to return to normal production levels in the second half
of 2024. We believe our insurance coverage is sufficient to cover property damage costs related to the event. To date, we have received advanced
payments from insurance of approximately $ 1.5 million for cleanup and damage remediation activities. Additionally, at March 31, 2024, we recorded an
insurance receivable of approximately $ 1.0 million for property damage recoveries that we have concluded are probable of collection, which remains
outstanding at June 30, 2024.

Any property damage insurance proceeds received in excess of the net book value of property lost and related cleanup costs will be accounted for as a
gain. Additionally, the Company may be entitled to business interruption proceeds related to the event. We will not record these recoveries until
settlements have been reached with the insurance company.

34



)le of Contents

Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”") is intended to provide management's perspective on
our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, and certain other factors that may affect our future results. Our MD&A should be read in conjunction
with the unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and Item 8, Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data, of our 2023 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

This MD&A includes financial measures compiled in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") and certain non-GAAP

measures. Please refer to the Non-GAAP Financial Measures section herein for information on the non-GAAP measures included in the MD&A,
reconciliations to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure, and the reasons why management believes each measure is useful to

management and investors.
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Forward-Looking Statements

This quarterly report on Form 10-Q (or statements otherwise made by the Company or on the Company’s behalf from time to time in other reports,
filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), news releases, conferences, website postings or otherwise) contains forward-looking
statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Any statements contained herein that are not historical facts are
forward-looking statements and involve risks and uncertainties. These forward-looking statements include expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives, future
financial performances, estimates, projections, goals, and forecasts. Trinity uses the words “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,”
“forecasts,” “may,” “will,” “should,” and similar expressions to identify these forward-looking statements. Potential factors that could cause our actual
results of operations to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements, include, among others:

"o

n o,

» market conditions and customer demand for our business products and services;

» the cyclical nature of the industries in which we compete;

¢ variations in weather in areas where our products are manufactured, delivered, or used;

< naturally-occurring events, pandemics, and/or disasters causing disruption to our manufacturing, product deliveries, and production capacity, thereby
giving rise to an increase in expenses, loss of revenue, and property losses;

e disruptions in the transportation network used to transport parts and components to our production facilities and to deliver products to our customers,
particularly with respect to the delivery of finished railcars from Mexico to the U.S., which may impact our ability to manufacture and timely deliver
railcars to our customers;

» shortages of labor;

¢ impacts from asset impairments and related charges;

 the timing of introduction of new products;

« the inability to effectively integrate acquired businesses;

» the timing and delivery of customer orders, lease portfolio sales, or a breach of customer contracts;

» the creditworthiness of customers and their access to capital;

* product price changes;

» changes in mix of products sold;

« the costs incurred to align manufacturing capacity with demand and the extent of its utilization;

» the operating leverage and efficiencies that can be achieved by our manufacturing businesses;

« availability and costs of steel, component parts, supplies, and other raw materials;

¢ competition and other competitive factors;

» changing technologies;

» material failure, interruption of service, compromised data security, phishing emails, or cybersecurity breaches in our information technology (or that of
the third-party vendors who provide information technology or other services);

» surcharges and other fees added to fixed pricing agreements for steel, component parts, supplies, and other raw materials;

« inflation, interest rates, and capital costs;

¢ counter-party risks for financial instruments;

¢ long-term funding of our operations;

* taxes;

» the stability of the governments and political and business conditions in certain foreign countries, particularly Mexico;

« fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly the Mexican peso;

» geopolitical events, including armed conflicts, and their impact on supply chains, pricing, and the global economy;

» changes in import and export quotas and regulations;

¢ business conditions in emerging economies;

» costs and results of litigation, including trial and appellate costs;

* changes in accounting standards or inaccurate estimates or assumptions in the application of accounting policies;

« changes in laws and regulations that may have an adverse effect on demand for our products and services, our results of operations, financial
condition or cash flows;

* legal, regulatory, and environmental issues, including compliance of our products with mandated specifications, standards, or testing criteria and
obligations to remove and replace our products following installation or to recall our products and install different products;

¢ actions by U.S. and/or foreign governments (particularly Mexico and Canada) relative to federal government budgeting, taxation policies, government
expenditures, borrowing/debt ceiling limits, tariffs, and trade policies;
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« the use of social or digital media to disseminate false, misleading and/or unreliable or inaccurate information; and
 the inability to sufficiently protect our intellectual property rights.

Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made. Except as required by federal securities laws, Trinity
undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which such statement is made. For
a discussion of risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ from those contained in the forward-looking statements, see “Risk
Factors” in our 2023 Annual Report on Form 10-K, this Form 10-Q and future Forms 10-Q and Current Reports on Forms 8-K.
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Company Overview

Trinity Industries, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (“Trinity,” “Company,” “we,” “our,” or "us") own businesses that are leading providers of railcar
products and services in North America. We market our railcar products and services under the trade name TrinityRail®. The TrinityRail platform provides
railcar leasing and management services; railcar manufacturing; railcar maintenance and modifications; and other railcar logistics products and services.

We report our operating results in two reportable segments: (1) the Railcar Leasing and Services Group (the "Leasing Group"), which owns and
operates a fleet of railcars and provides third-party fleet leasing, management, and administrative services; railcar maintenance and modification services;
and other railcar logistics products and services; and (2) the Rail Products Group, which manufactures and sells railcars and related parts and
components.

Effective January 1, 2024, the Company modified its organizational structure to better leverage our maintenance services capabilities to support lease
fleet optimization and to grow our services and parts businesses. The new structure resulted in a change to our reportable segments beginning in 2024. In
connection with this organizational update, we aligned the maintenance services business, which was previously reported in the Rail Products Group, to
now be presented within our leasing business. This change aligns with the way in which our CODM assesses performance and allocates resources.
Consequently, beginning January 1, 2024, we report our operating results in two reportable segments: (1) the Railcar Leasing and Services Group,
formerly the Railcar Leasing and Management Services Group, and (2) the Rail Products Group. These changes had no impact to our previously reported
consolidated results of operations, financial position, or cash flows. All prior period segment results set forth herein have been recast to reflect these
changes and present results on a comparable basis.

Executive Summary
Cyeclical, Seasonal and Other Trends Impacting Our Business
General/Business Trends

The industries in which our customers operate are cyclical in nature. Although lease rates and lease fleet utilization remain strong, weaknesses in
certain sectors of the North American and global economy may make it more difficult to sell or lease certain types of railcars. Additionally, changes in
certain commodity prices, or changes in demand for certain commodities, could impact customer demand for various types of railcars. Further, disruptions
in the global supply chain have impacted demand for, and the costs of, certain of our products and services.

We continuously assess demand for our products and services and take steps to rationalize and diversify our leased railcar portfolio and align our
operating capacity appropriately. We evaluate the creditworthiness of our customers and monitor performance of relevant market sectors; however,
weaknesses in any of these market sectors could affect the financial viability of our customers, which could negatively impact our revenues, credit loss
expense, and operating profits. We continue to believe that our rail platform is able to respond to cyclical changes in demand and perform throughout the
railcar cycle.

Due to their transactional nature, lease portfolio sales are the primary driver of fluctuations in results in the Leasing Group.
U.S.-Mexico Border Disruption

In late 2023, the U.S. Customs and Border Protection Agency suspended cross-border rail traffic in Eagle Pass, Texas, the primary border crossing
used for railcar deliveries from our manufacturing facilities in Mexico, which negatively impacted our railcar deliveries in the second half of 2023. We have
not experienced a border closure at Eagle Pass thus far in 2024, and all railcar shipments that were delayed at the end of 2023 were delivered during the
first half of 2024; however, there remains a risk of instability at the border, and there can be no assurance that similar border closings or congestion will
not occur in the future. We actively monitor rail and truck traffic at the U.S.-Mexico border and remain in close contact with all stakeholders, including the
relevant government agencies, and continue to evaluate available alternatives for rail and truck transportation between Mexico and the United States. Any
future rail and truck congestion at the border could negatively impact our deliveries and supply chain.

Supply Chain Disruptions

As a result of disruptions in the global supply chain, we have, from time to time, experienced shortages of materials used to manufacture or repair
certain railcar types, as well as disruptions in the transportation network. Such challenges could negatively impact our operations or our ability to timely
deliver railcars to our customers. We actively monitor our supply chain and take appropriate steps within our control to mitigate the potential impacts on
our production schedules and delivery timelines.
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Foreign Currency Fluctuations

We are exposed to the impact of foreign currency fluctuations in our Mexico operations resulting from certain expenditures that are denominated in the
Mexican peso. The strengthening of the Mexican peso relative to the U.S. dollar unfavorably impacted the operating results in our Rail Products Group in
2023. We maintain a hedging program and have taken other actions to mitigate the foreign currency impact of a portion of our peso-denominated
expenditures. We regularly evaluate and update our strategies to mitigate the negative effects on margins and operating profits that may arise due to
foreign currency fluctuations.

Input and Labor Costs

We periodically experience increases in the costs of steel, components, and certain other inputs that represent a substantial portion of our cost of
revenues. We typically use contract-specific purchasing practices, existing supplier commitments, contractual price escalation provisions, and other
arrangements with our customers to reduce the impact of the volatility of certain input costs on our operating profit. Further, the cost and volume of lease
fleet maintenance and compliance events have increased, and we expect elevated levels of these activities to continue in the near term. Finally, increases
in labor costs have negatively impacted our operations. We continually assess the impact of input and labor costs on our operational efficiency, margins,
and overall profitability.
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Financial and Operational Highlights

»  Our revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2024 were $1,651.0 million, representing an increase of 21.0%, compared to the six months

ended June 30, 2023. Our operating profit for the six months ended June 30, 2024 was $257.1 million compared to $168.1 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2023.

* The Leasing Group's lease fleet of 109,365 company-owned railcars was 96.9% utilized as of June 30, 2024, compared to a lease fleet utilization
of 97.9% on 109,060 company-owned railcars as of June 30, 2023. Our company-owned lease fleet includes wholly-owned railcars, partially-
owned railcars, and railcars under leased-in arrangements.

*  For the six months ended June 30, 2024, we made a net fleet investment of approximately $46.0 million, which primarily includes new railcar
additions, sustainable railcar conversions, railcar modifications, and other betterments, net of deferred profit, and secondary market purchases;
and is net of proceeds from lease portfolio sales.

* The total value of the new railcar backlog at June 30, 2024 was $2.7 billion, compared to $3.6 billion at June 30, 2023. The Rail Products Group
received orders for 4,375 railcars and delivered 9,450 railcars in the six months ended June 30, 2024, in comparison to orders for 7,460 railcars
and deliveries of 9,030 railcars in the six months ended June 30, 2023.

See "Consolidated Results of Operations" and "Segment Discussion" below for additional information regarding our operating results.

Dividend Growth Cash Flow from Operations with Net
Gains on Lease Portfolio Sales (2)
$0.30 5.0%
$0.28 0.28 0.28 $400.0

$0.26 $0.26 -- $324.5

$0.25
o $300.0
g
E —_—
3 2
$0.20 25% = S
" § s $183.6
By £
$0.15 $100.0
$0.10 —% $—
Q2 Q3 Q4 Ql Q2 YTD Q2 2023 YTD Q2 2024
2023 2023 2023 2024 2024
[l Cash Flow from Continuing Operations
[ Dividend per Share Dividend Yield [l Net Gains on Lease Portfolio Sales

(@) pividend yield is calculated as dividends paid for the four previous quarters divided by the closing stock price on the last trading day of each respective quarter.
(@ Non-GAAP financial measure. See the Non-GAAP Financial Measures section within this Form 10-Q for a reconciliation to the most directly comparable GAAP measure and why
management believes this measure is useful to management and investors. Dollar amounts are presented for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023.
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Capital Structure Updates

TILC Warehouse Loan Facility — In March 2024, we entered into a new Trinity Industries Leasing Company ("TILC") warehouse loan facility with a total
commitment amount of $800.0 million, a revolving termination date of March 15, 2027, and a maturity date of March 15, 2028. This warehouse loan
facility replaced the prior $1.0 billion warehouse loan facility.

TRL-2024 Secured Railcar Equipment Notes — In May 2024, Trinity Rail Leasing 2021 LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("TRL-2021") and a
limited purpose, indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company owned through TILC, issued $432.4 million of its Series 2024-1 Class A Green Secured
Railcar Equipment Notes. These notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 5.78%, are payable monthly, and have a stated final maturity date of 2054. Net
proceeds received from the transaction were used to repay borrowings under TILC's warehouse loan facility; to redeem the outstanding debt of Trinity
Rail Leasing VII LLC's Series 2009-1 Secured Railcar Equipment Notes (the "TRL VII Notes"), of which $94.1 million was outstanding at the redemption
date; and for general corporate purposes. The all-in interest rate for the TRL VII Notes was 6.66% per annum.

Senior Notes due 2028 — In June 2024, we issued an additional $200.0 million aggregate principal amount of 7.75% senior notes due July 2028 (the
"Additional Senior Notes"), which increased the aggregate principal amount from $400.0 million to $600.0 million. Interest on the Additional Senior Notes
is payable semiannually commencing July 15, 2024. Net proceeds received from the issuance, together with cash on hand, were used to repay $400.0
million of our 4.55% senior notes due 2024 ("Senior Notes due 2024"), and to pay related fees, costs, premiums, and expenses in connection with the
issuance.

See Note 8 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding these debt transactions.
Litigation Updates

See Note 14 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for an update on the status of certain litigation.
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Consolidated Results of Operations

The following table summarizes our consolidated results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023:

Revenues
Cost of revenues
Selling, engineering, and administrative expenses
Gains on dispositions of property
Restructuring activities, net
Total operating profit
Interest expense, net
Other, net
Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Provision (benefit) for income taxes

Income from continuing operations
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Three Months Ended

Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,
2024 2023 2024 2023
(in millions)

8414 $ 7224 3% 1,651.0 $ 1,364.1
662.4 601.2 1,307.3 1,139.7
61.3 54.3 113.6 104.2
24.2 30.4 27.0 45.7
— (1.8) - 2.2
141.9 99.1 257.1 168.1
70.1 66.9 139.2 129.0
(3.4) 1.3 — 2.9
75.2 30.9 117.9 36.2
17.1 7.4 28.1 (4.1)
581 $ 235 $ 89.8 $ 40.3
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Revenues

The tables below present revenues by segment for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023:

Railcar Leasing and Services Group
Rail Products Group
Segment Totals

Eliminations

Consolidated Total

Railcar Leasing and Services Group
Rail Products Group
Segment Totals

Eliminations

Consolidated Total

Railcar Leasing and Services Group
Rail Products Group
Segment Totals

Eliminations

Consolidated Total

Railcar Leasing and Services Group
Rail Products Group
Segment Totals

Eliminations

Consolidated Total

Three Months Ended June 30, 2024

Revenues Percent
External Intersegment Total Change
(in millions)

2805 $ 09 $ 281.4 49 %

560.9 73.3 634.2 3.2) %

841.4 74.2 915.6 (0.9) %

— (74.2) (74.2)
8414 $ — $ 841.4 16.5 %
Three Months Ended June 30, 2023
Revenues
External Intersegment Total
(in millions)

2678 $ 05 $ 268.3

454.6 200.8 655.4

722.4 201.3 923.7

— (201.3) (201.3)
7224 % — % 722.4
Six Months Ended June 30, 2024
Revenues Percent
External Intersegment Total Change
(in millions)

564.8 $ 18 $ 566.6 13.0 %
1,086.2 215.4 1,301.6 4.7 %
1,651.0 217.2 1,868.2 7.1 %

— (217.2) (217.2)
1,651.0 $ — 3 1,651.0 21.0 %

Six Months Ended June 30, 2023

Revenues
External Intersegment Total

(in millions)

5005 $ 0.7 $ 501.2

863.6 379.4 1,243.0

1,364.1 380.1 1,744.2

— (380.1) (380.1)

1,364.1 $ — 5 1,364.1
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Operating Costs

Operating costs are comprised of cost of revenues; selling, engineering, and administrative costs; gains or losses on property disposals; and
restructuring activities. Operating costs by segment for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2024 2023 2024 2023
(in millions)
Railcar Leasing and Services Group @ $ 1534 $ 1522 § 3383 $ 3005
Rail Products Group 583.8 631.1 1,207.4 1,194.6
Segment Totals 737.2 783.3 1,545.7 1,495.1
Corporate and other 33.3 31.6 59.8 57.6
Restructuring activities, net — (1.8) — (2.2)
Eliminations (71.0) (189.8) (211.6) (354.5)
Consolidated Total $ 6995 $ 623.3 $ 1,3939 $ 1,196.0

@ Includes gains on lease portfolio sales of $22.7 million and $29.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Includes gains on lease portfolio sales
of $24.8 million and $43.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Operating Profit

Operating profit by segment for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 was as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2024 2023 2024 2023
(in millions)
Railcar Leasing and Services Group $ 128.0 $ 116.1 $ 2283 $ 200.7
Rail Products Group 50.4 24.3 94.2 48.4
Segment Totals 178.4 140.4 3225 249.1
Corporate and other (33.3) (31.6) (59.8) (57.6)
Restructuring activities, net — 1.8 — 2.2
Eliminations (3.2) (11.5) (5.6) (25.6)
Consolidated Total $ 1419 $ 99.1 $ 2571 % 168.1

Discussion of Consolidated Results

Revenues — Our revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2024 were $841.4 million, representing an increase of $119.0 million, or 16.5%, over
the prior year period. Our revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2024 were $1,651.0 million, representing an increase of $286.9 million, or 21.0%,
over the prior year period. These increases in revenues were primarily due to higher external deliveries in the Rail Products Group and improved lease

rates and net additions to the lease fleet in the Leasing Group. For the six months ended June 30, 2024, revenues were favorably impacted by a higher
volume of external repairs in the Leasing Group.

Cost of revenues — Our cost of revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2024 was $662.4 million, representing an increase of $61.2 million, or
10.2%, over the prior year period primarily due to higher external deliveries in the Rail Products Group. Our cost of revenues for the six months ended
June 30, 2024 was $1,307.3 million, representing an increase of $167.6 million, or 14.7%, over the prior year period primarily due to higher external
deliveries and the impact of foreign currency fluctuations in the Rail Products Group.

Selling, engineering, and administrative expenses — Selling, engineering, and administrative expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2024 were
$61.3 million, representing an increase of $7.0 million, or 12.9%, when compared to the prior year period. Selling, engineering, and administrative
expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2024 were $113.6 million, representing an increase of $9.4 million, or 9.0%, when compared to the prior year
period. These increases were primarily due to higher employee-related costs, including increased incentive-based compensation, and continued

investments in technology. Selling, engineering, and administrative expenses in the prior year periods include additional contingent consideration
associated with an acquisition.
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Gains on dispositions of property — Gains on dispositions of property decreased by $6.2 million and $18.7 million for the three and six months ended
June 30, 2024, respectively, when compared to the prior year periods. These decreases were primarily due to lower lease portfolio sales in the current
year periods. Additionally, we recorded gains of $1.2 million during the six months ended June 30, 2023 related to insurance recoveries in excess of net
book value for assets damaged by a tornado at the Company’s rail maintenance facility in Cartersville, Georgia.

Operating profit — Operating profit for the three months ended June 30, 2024 totaled $141.9 million, representing an increase of $42.8 million, or 43.2%,
from the prior year period. Operating profit for the six months ended June 30, 2024 totaled $257.1 million, representing an increase of $89.0 million, or
52.9%, from the prior year period. These increases were primarily due to higher external deliveries and improved efficiencies in the Rail Products Group
and improved lease rates in the Leasing Group, partially offset by lower lease portfolio sales in the current year periods. Operating profit for the six
months ended June 30, 2024 was favorably impacted by a higher volume of external repairs in our maintenance services business.

For further information regarding the operating results of individual segments, see "Segment Discussion” below.

Interest expense, net — Interest expense, net for the three months ended June 30, 2024 totaled $70.1 million, compared to $66.9 million for the three
months ended June 30, 2023. Interest expense, net for the six months ended June 30, 2024 totaled $139.2 million, compared to $129.0 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2023. These increases were primarily driven by higher interest rates and higher average debt in 2024, as well as a $1.5 million
loss on extinguishment of debt for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024.

Other, net — Other, net for the three months ended June 30, 2024 resulted in income of $3.4 million, compared to expense of $1.3 million for the three
months ended June 30, 2023. There was no other, net (income) expense for the six months ended June 30, 2024, compared to expense of $2.9 million
for the six months ended June 30, 2023. The changes in other, net (income) expense are primarily due the remeasurement impact of foreign currency
fluctuations related to the Mexican peso. Additionally, other, net for the six months ended June 30, 2024 includes a fee of $3.1 million related to the
execution of back-to-back interest rate caps associated with the new TILC warehouse loan facility.

Income taxes — The effective tax rates from continuing operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 were expenses of 22.7% and
23.8%, respectively, which differ from the U.S. statutory rate of 21.0% primarily due to state income taxes, foreign income taxes, and non-deductible
executive compensation, partially offset by the benefit of noncontrolling interest, for which we do not provide income taxes, excess tax benefits associated
with equity-based compensation, and changes in state tax laws enacted in the second quarter.

The effective tax rate from continuing operations for the three months ended June 30, 2023 was an expense of 23.9%, which differs from the U.S.
statutory rate of 21.0% primarily due to state income taxes, foreign income taxes, non-deductible executive compensation, excess tax benefits associated
with equity-based compensation, and taxes not recorded on our non-controlling interests in partially-owned subsidiaries.

The effective tax rate from continuing operations for the six months ended June 30, 2023 was a benefit of 11.3%, which differs from the U.S. statutory
rate of 21.0% primarily due to the release of residual taxes out of accumulated other comprehensive income; the re-measurement of our net deferred tax
liabilities due to the acquisition of a subsidiary; changes in our valuation allowances; state income taxes, and foreign income taxes. See Note 9 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.
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Segment Discussion

Railcar Leasing and Services Group

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2024 2023 Percent 2024 2023 Percent
($ in millions) Change ($ in millions) Change

Revenues:

Leasing and management $ 221.9 $ 203.8 89% $ 430.9 $ 398.5 8.1 %

Maintenance services 49.0 45.1 8.6 % 114.2 74.5 53.3 %

Digital and logistics services 10.5 194 (45.9)% 215 28.2 (23.8)%
Total revenues $ 281.4 $ 268.3 49% $ 566.6 $ 501.2 13.0 %
Cost of revenues @ $ 1574  $ 167.6 (6.1)% 327.0 314.4 4.0 %
Selling, engineering, and administrative expenses 20.0 15.2 31.6 % 38.1 32.1 18.7 %
Gains on dispositions of property:

Lease portfolio sales 22.7 29.8 * 24.8 43.3 *

Other 1.3 0.8 * 2.0 2.7 *
Total operating profit $ 128.0 $ 116.1 102% $ 228.3 $ 200.7 13.8 %
Total operating profit margin 455 % 43.3 % 40.3 % 40.0 %
To;zlrt?;)”eorf;r:gsprofit margin, excluding lease 37.4% 32.2 % 35.9 % 314 %
Selected expense information for Company-

owned railcars @)

Depreciation and amortization expense ) $ 601 $ 59.2 15% $ 1200 $ 120.8 0.7%

Maintenance and compliance expense ©) $ 350 $ 32.8 6.7% $ 654 % 67.6 (3.3)%

Other fleet operating costs (©) $ 81 % 8.2 12)% $ 158 $ 17.4 (9.2)%

Interest expense () $ 604  $ 57.0 6.0% $ 1178  $ 111.8 5.4 %

* Not meaningful

() Revenues related to services performed by the maintenance services business to support the railcars in our lease fleet are eliminated within the Railcar Leasing & Services Group

and are excluded from the totals reported on this line.

@ Includes depreciation and amortization expense, maintenance and compliance expense, and other fleet operating costs related to our lease fleet, as well as operating costs for our

maintenance services and digital and logistics services businesses.
() Includes wholly-owned railcars, partially-owned railcars, and railcars under leased-in arrangements.

() Depreciation and amortization expense includes $0.8 million and $5.5 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively, related to the disposal of certain
railcar components associated with our sustainable railcar conversion program. Additionally, amortization of deferred profit on railcars sold from the Rail Products Group to the
Leasing Group is included in depreciation and amortization expense, resulting in the recognition of depreciation expense based on our original manufacturing cost of the railcars.

() Maintenance and compliance expense is reported at cost with respect to the services performed by our maintenance services business to support the railcars in our lease fleet.
(6) Other fleet operating costs include freight, storage, rent, and ad valorem taxes.

(@) Interest expense is not a component of operating profit and includes the effect of hedges.

Information related to lease portfolio sales is as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

($ in millions)

Lease portfolio sales $ 1625 $ 1290 $ 186.7 $ 185.7
Operating profit on lease portfolio sales $ 22.7 $ 29.8 $ 24.8 $ 43.3
Operating profit margin on lease portfolio sales 14.0 % 23.1% 13.3 % 23.3%
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Total revenues for the Railcar Leasing and Services Group increased by 4.9% and 13.0% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024,
respectively, compared to the prior year periods. Leasing and management revenues for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 were favorably
impacted primarily by improved lease rates and net additions to the lease fleet, which resulted in higher revenues when compared to the three and six
months ended June 30, 2023. Digital and logistics services revenues for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 decreased when compared to the
prior year periods primarily due to a change in revenue recognition from gross basis to net basis based on our conclusion that we are acting as an agent
for certain services provided to a small number of customers.

Our maintenance services business is primarily dedicated to servicing our lease fleet pursuant to the provisions of our lease contracts. This may include
services that are not included in the full-service lease agreement, such as repairs of railcar damage or other customer-specific requirements. We also
perform maintenance and repair activities on railcars owned by third parties, including our investor-owned fleet. Revenues in our maintenance services
business increased for the three months ended June 30, 2024 as a result of the mix of external repairs. Revenues in our maintenance services business
increased for the six months ended June 30, 2024 as a result of a higher volume of repairs completed for third parties, including our investor-owned fleet,
as well as favorable pricing.

Cost of revenues for the Railcar Leasing and Services Group decreased by 6.1% and increased by 4.0% for the three and six months ended June 30,
2024, respectively, compared to the prior year periods. In our maintenance services business, cost of revenues decreased for the three months ended
June 30, 2024 as a result of the mix of external repairs, as well as a government incentive related to our investment at a rail maintenance facility. In our
maintenance services business, cost of revenues increased for the six months ended June 30, 2024 as a result of the volume of external repairs. Cost of
revenues for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 was also impacted by the gross basis to net basis change described above.

Leasing Group operating profit increased by 10.2% and 13.8% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, compared to the prior
year periods primarily due to improved lease rates and net additions to the lease fleet, partially offset by lower lease portfolio sales in the current year
periods. For the six months ended June 30, 2024, operating profit was further increased by a higher volume of external repairs in the maintenance
services business. Additionally, operating profit was favorably impacted by gains of $1.2 million during the six months ended June 30, 2023 related to
insurance recoveries in excess of net book value for assets damaged by a tornado at the Company’s rail maintenance facility in Cartersville, Georgia in
the first quarter of 2021.

The Leasing Group generally uses its non-recourse warehouse loan facility or cash to provide initial funding for a portion of the purchase price of the
railcars. After initial funding, the Leasing Group may obtain long-term financing for the railcars in the lease fleet through non-recourse asset-backed
securities; long-term recourse debt; long-term non-recourse promissory notes; or third-party equity.

Information regarding the Leasing Group’s lease fleet is as follows:

June 30, 2024 June 30, 2023
Number of railcars:
Wholly-owned @ 85,825 85,390
Partially-owned 23,540 23,670
109,365 109,060
Investor-owned 34,305 33,205
143,670 142,265
Company-owned railcars @:
Average age in years 135 12.6
Average remaining lease term in years 2.8 3.1
Fleet utilization 96.9 % 97.9 %

@) Includes 2,490 railcars under leased-in arrangements as of both June 30, 2024 and 2023.

@ Includes wholly-owned railcars, partially-owned railcars, and railcars under leased-in arrangements.
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Rail Products Group

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2024 2023 Percent 2024 2023 Percent
($ in millions) Change ($ in millions) Change
Revenues:
Rail products @ $ 605.6 $ 626.0 33)% $ 1,244.8 $ 1,184.4 51 %
Parts & components 28.6 294 2.7)% 56.8 58.6 (3.1) %
Total revenues $ 6342 $ 655.4 (32)% $ 13016 $ 1,243.0 47 %
Operating costs:
Cost of revenues 576.0 623.4 (7.6)% 1,191.9 1,179.8 1.0 %
Seell)i(r;i,nzzgineering, and administrative 78 75 40 % 155 145 6.9 %
Losses on dispositions of property — 0.2) * — (0.3) *
Operating profit $ 50.4 $ 24.3 107.4% $ 94.2 $ 48.4 94.6 %
Operating profit margin 7.9 % 3.7% 72 % 3.9%

* Not meaningful

@ Includes sustainable railcar conversion revenues of $14.4 million, representing 195 railcars, for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and sustainable railcar conversion revenues
of $64.6 million, representing 870 railcars, for the six months ended June 30, 2024. Includes sustainable railcar conversion revenues of $6.4 million, representing 45 railcars, for the
three months ended June 30, 2023 and sustainable railcar conversion revenues of $60.3 million, representing 635 railcars, for the six months ended June 30, 2023.

Revenues for the Rail Products Group decreased for the three months ended June 30, 2024 by 3.2% when compared to the prior year period primarily
as a result of lower deliveries and the mix of railcars sold. Revenues for the Rail Products Group increased for the six months ended June 30, 2024 by
4.7% when compared to the prior year period primarily as a result of higher deliveries.

Cost of revenues for the Rail Products Group decreased for the three months ended June 30, 2024 by 7.6% when compared to the prior year period
primarily due to improved labor efficiencies, operational efficiencies associated with reduced production line changeovers and fewer supply chain
disruptions, as well as lower deliveries when compared to the prior year period. Cost of revenues for the Rail Products Group for the six months ended
June 30, 2024 was relatively flat when compared to the prior year period primarily driven by higher deliveries and the impact of foreign currency
fluctuations, partially offset by improved labor efficiencies and operational efficiencies associated with reduced production line changeovers and fewer
supply chain disruptions when compared to the prior year period.

Operating profit for the Rail Products Group increased for the three months ended June 30, 2024 by 107.4% when compared to the prior year period
primarily due to improved labor and operational efficiencies, partially offset by lower deliveries. Operating profit for the Rail Products Group increased for
the six months ended June 30, 2024 by 94.6% when compared to the prior year period primarily due to improved labor and operational efficiencies and
higher deliveries.

Information related to our Rail Products Group backlog of new railcars is set forth below. In addition to the amounts below, as of June 30, 2024, our
backlog related to sustainable railcar conversions totaled $19.6 million, representing 250 railcars.

June 30,
2024 2023 Percent
(in millions) Change
External customers $ 2,2811 $ 3,221.5
Leasing Group 402.1 383.9
Total $ 2,6832 $ 3,605.4 (25.6)%
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Three Months Ended June 30,

Six Months Ended

June 30,
2024 2023 2024 2023 Percent
(in units, $ in whole dollars) Change
Beginning balance 23,075 30,915 25,890 32,270
Orders received 2,495 4,770 4,375 7,460 (41.9)%
Deliveries (4,755) (4,985) (9,450) (9,030) 4.7 %
Other adjustments @ — (160) — (160)
Ending balance 20,815 30,540 20,815 30,540 (31.8)%
Average selling price in ending backlog $ 128,907 $ 118,055 9.2 %

@ The adjustment for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 includes 160 railcars valued at $19.2 million that were placed with a different customer and are also included in

orders received in the table above, resulting in no net effect on ending backlog.

Total backlog dollars decreased by 25.6% when compared to the prior year period. We expect to deliver approximately 36.0% of our railcar backlog
value during the remaining six months of 2024 and 27.9% during 2025, with the remainder to be delivered through 2028. The orders in our backlog from
the Leasing Group are fully supported by lease commitments with external customers. The final amount of backlog attributable to the Leasing Group may
vary by the time of delivery as customers may elect to change their procurement decision.

Transactions between the Rail Products Group and the Leasing Group are as follows:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended

June 30,
2024 2023 2024 2023
($ in millions)
Revenues:
New railcars $ 645 $ 1904 $ 199.7 $ 324.7
Sustainable railcar conversions $ — $ 41 % 04 $ 43.1
Parts & components $ 88 % 63 $ 153 $ 11.6
Deferred profit $ 35 $ 112 $ 56 $ 259
Number of new railcars (in units) 505 1,475 1,600 2,495
Number of sustainable railcar conversions (in units) — 35 5 425
Corporate and other
Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2024 2023 Percent 2024 2023 Percent
(in millions) Change (in millions) Change
Operating costs:
Selling, engineering, and administrative
expenses $ 335 $ 316 60 % $ 60.0 $ 57.6 42 %
Gains on dispositions of property (0.2) = * 0.2) = *
Operating loss $ (33.3) $ (31.6) 54 % $ (59.8) $ (57.6) 38 %

*Not meaningful

Selling, engineering, and administrative expenses for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 were relatively flat when compared to the prior
year periods. Total operating costs during the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 were favorably impacted by gains associated with the
disposition of non-operating facilities. As we continue to streamline our operational footprint, we may have additional gains or losses on the disposition of
other non-operating facilities.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview

We expect to finance future operating requirements with cash, cash equivalents, and short-term marketable securities; cash flows from operations; and
short-term debt, long-term debt, and equity. Debt instruments that we have utilized include the TILC warehouse loan facility, senior notes, convertible
subordinated notes, asset-backed securities, non-recourse promissory notes, and our revolving credit facility.

As of June 30, 2024, we have total committed liquidity of $985.2 million. Our total available liquidity includes: $257.1 million of unrestricted cash and
cash equivalents; $594.8 million unused and available under our revolving credit facility; and $133.3 million unused and available under the TILC
warehouse loan facility based on the amount of warehouse-eligible, unpledged equipment. We believe we have access to adequate capital resources to
fund operating requirements and are an active participant in the capital markets.

Liquidity Highlights

TILC Warehouse Loan Facility — In March 2024, we entered into a new TILC warehouse loan facility with a total commitment amount of $800.0 million, a
revolving termination date of March 15, 2027, and a maturity date of March 15, 2028. This warehouse loan facility replaced the prior $1.0 billion
warehouse loan facility.

TRL-2024 Secured Railcar Equipment Notes — In May 2024, TRL-2021 issued $432.4 million of its Series 2024-1 Class A Green Secured Railcar
Equipment Notes. These notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 5.78% and have a stated final maturity date of 2054. Net proceeds received from the
transaction were used to repay borrowings under TILC's warehouse loan facility, to redeem the outstanding debt of the TRL VII Notes, and for general
corporate purposes.

Redemption of TRL-VII Secured Railcar Equipment Notes — In May 2024, we redeemed in full the TRL VII Notes, of which $94.1 million was outstanding
at the redemption date. The all-in interest rate for the TRL VIl Notes was 6.66% per annum.

Senior Notes due 2028 — In June 2024, we issued an additional $200.0 million aggregate principal amount of 7.75% senior notes due July 2028, which
increased the aggregate principal amount from $400.0 million to $600.0 million. Interest on the Additional Senior Notes is payable semiannually
commencing July 15, 2024. Net proceeds received from the issuance, together with cash on hand, were used to repay our Senior Notes due 2024, and to
pay related fees, costs, premiums, and expenses in connection with the issuance.

Redemption of Senior Notes due 2024 — In June 2024, we redeemed in full $400.0 million aggregate principal amount of our 4.55% senior notes due
2024.

See Note 8 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding these debt transactions.
Dividend Payments — We paid $47.2 million in dividends to our common stockholders during the six months ended June 30, 2024.

Share Repurchase Authorization — In December 2022, our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program effective December 9, 2022 with
no expiration. The share repurchase program authorizes the Company to repurchase up to $250.0 million of its common stock. During the three and six
months ended June 30, 2024, share repurchases totaled 33,900 shares, at a cost of approximately $0.9 million, resulting in a remaining authorization to
repurchase up to $249.1 million of its common stock under the share repurchase program as of June 30, 2024.
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Cash Flows
The following table summarizes our cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023:

Six Months Ended

June 30,
2024 2023
(in millions)
Net cash flows from continuing operations:
Operating activities $ 299.7 $ 140.3
Investing activities (55.9) (292.1)
Financing activities (108.7) 159.5
Net cash flows from discontinued operations (6.0) (5.4)
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 1291 $ 2.3

Operating Activities. Net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations for the six months ended June 30, 2024 was $299.7 million
compared to net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations of $140.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023. The changes
in our operating assets and liabilities are as follows:

Six Months Ended

June 30,
2024 2023
(in millions)
(Increase) decrease in receivables, inventories, and other assets $ 371 $ (73.7)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and other liabilities 324 67.5
Changes in operating assets and liabilities $ 695 $ (6.2)

The changes in our operating assets and liabilities resulted in a net source of $69.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024, as compared to a
net use of $6.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023. The change in operating assets for the current year period was impacted primarily by
lower inventory balances associated with railcar deliveries.

Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities from continuing operations for the six months ended June 30, 2024 was $55.9 million
compared to $292.1 million of net cash used in investing activities from continuing operations for the six months ended June 30, 2023. Significant
investing activities are as follows:

* We made a net fleet investment of $46.0 million during the six months ended June 30, 2024, compared to $214.0 million in the prior year period
primarily due to the timing of lease portfolio sales relative to fleet additions. Our investment in the lease fleet primarily includes new railcar
additions, sustainable railcar conversions, railcar modifications, and other betterments, net of deferred profit, and secondary market purchases;
and is net of proceeds from lease portfolio sales.

* During the six months ended June 30, 2023, we acquired a company that is a provider of proprietary software and logistics and terminal
management solutions for net cash of $66.2 million. We had no acquisitions during the six months ended June 30, 2024.

Financing Activities. Net cash used in financing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2024 was $108.7 million compared to $159.5 million of
net cash provided by financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2023. Significant financing activities are as follows:

» During the six months ended June 30, 2024, we had total repayments of $1,759.9 million and total borrowings of $1,722.2 million, for net
repayments of $37.7 million, primarily from the redemption of the Senior Notes due 2024 and the TRL VII Notes, partially offset by debt proceeds
to support our investment in the lease fleet and for general corporate purposes. During the six months ended June 30, 2023, we had total
borrowings of $1,253.9 million and total repayments of $1,035.3 million, for net proceeds of $218.6 million, primarily from debt proceeds for
general corporate purposes and to support our investment in the lease fleet.

e We paid $47.2 million and $43.3 million in dividends to our common stockholders during the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023,
respectively.
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Current Debt Obligations

The revolving credit facility contains several financial covenants that require the maintenance of ratios related to minimum interest coverage for the
leasing and manufacturing operations and maximum leverage. A summary of our financial covenants is detailed below:

Actual at
Ratio Covenant June 30, 2024
Maximum leverage () No greater than 3.75 to 1.00 1.13
Minimum interest coverage @ No less than 2.25 to 1.00 13.22

() pefined as the ratio of consolidated total indebtedness to consolidated earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA") for the Borrower and its restricted
subsidiaries for the period of four consecutive quarters ending with June 30, 2024.

(@ Defined as the ratio of the difference of (A) consolidated EBITDA less (B) consolidated capital expenditures — operating and administrative to consolidated interest expense to the

extent paid in cash, in each case for the Borrower and its restricted subsidiaries for the period of four consecutive quarters ending with June 30, 2024.

As of June 30, 2024, we were in compliance with all such financial covenants. Please refer to Note 8 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for a
description of our current debt obligations.

Capital Expenditures

For the full year 2024, we anticipate a net fleet investment of between $300 million and $400 million. Capital expenditures related to operating and
administrative activities, including supporting automation, technology, and modernization of our facilities and processes, are projected to range between
$50 million and $60 million for the full year 2024.

Equity Investment
See Note 5 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for information about our investments in partially-owned subsidiaries.
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of June 30, 2024, we had outstanding letters of credit issued under our revolving credit facility in an aggregate amount of $5.2 million, the majority of
which are expected to expire in November 2024. Our letters of credit obligations support performance bonds related to certain railcar orders. See Note 8
of the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information about our corporate revolving credit facility. Additionally, we had a letter of credit issued
outside our revolving credit facility for $8.5 million. This letter of credit obligation replaces a required cash liquidity reserve to support the TILC warehouse
loan facility and renews by its terms each year.

Derivative Instruments

We use derivative instruments to mitigate interest rate risk, including risks associated with the impact of changes in interest rates in anticipation of future
debt issuances and to offset interest rate variability of certain floating rate debt issuances outstanding. We also may use derivative instruments from time
to time to mitigate the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Derivative instruments are accounted for in accordance with applicable
accounting standards. See Note 3 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for discussion of how we utilize our derivative instruments.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We have included financial measures compiled in accordance with GAAP and certain non-GAAP measures in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to
provide management and investors with additional information regarding our financial results. Non-GAAP measures should not be considered in isolation
or as a substitute for our reported results prepared in accordance with GAAP and, as calculated, may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures
for other companies. For each non-GAAP financial measure, we provide a reconciliation to the most comparable GAAP measure.

Cash Flow from Operations with Net Gains on Lease Portfolio Sales

Cash flow from operations with net gains on lease portfolio sales is a non-GAAP financial measure. We believe this measure is useful to both
management and investors as it provides a relevant measure of liquidity and a useful basis for assessing the breadth of the cash flow generation
capabilities across our operating platform, as well as our ability to fund our operations and repay our debt. This measure is defined as net cash provided by
operating activities from continuing operations as computed in accordance with GAAP, plus net gains on lease portfolio sales and is reconciled to net
cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations, the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure, in the following table. Non-GAAP
measures should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for our reported results prepared in accordance with GAAP and, as calculated, may not
be comparable to other similarly titted measures for other companies.

Six Months Ended

June 30,
2024 2023
(in millions)
Net cash provided by operating activities — continuing operations $ 299.7 $ 140.3
Net gains on lease portfolio sales 24.8 43.3
Cash flow from operations with net gains on lease portfolio sales $ 3245 $ 183.6

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

Except as described below, as of June 30, 2024, there have been no material changes to our contractual obligations from December 31, 2023:

* In March 2024, we entered into a new TILC warehouse loan facility with a total commitment amount of $800.0 million, a revolving termination
date of March 15, 2027, and a maturity date of March 15, 2028. This warehouse loan facility replaced the prior $1.0 billion warehouse loan facility.

* In May 2024, TRL-2021 issued $432.4 million of its Series 2024-1 Class A Green Secured Railcar Equipment Notes. These notes have a stated
final maturity date of 2054.

* In May 2024, we redeemed in full the TRL VII Notes, of which $99.7 million was outstanding as of December 31, 2023.

* InJune 2024, we issued an additional $200.0 million aggregate principal amount of 7.75% senior notes due 2028, which increased the aggregate
principal amount from $400.0 million to $600.0 million.

* InJune 2024, we redeemed in full $400.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.55% senior notes due 2024.

See Note 8 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding these debt transactions.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for information about recent accounting pronouncements.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

There has been no material change in our market risks since December 31, 2023 as set forth in Item 7A of our 2023 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Refer to Note 3 and Note 8 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the impact of hedging activity and debt-related activity,
respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that we are able to collect and record the information we are required to disclose in
the reports we file with the SEC, and to process, summarize, and disclose this information within the time periods specified in the rules of the SEC. Our
Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officers are responsible for establishing and maintaining these procedures and, as required by the rules of the SEC,
evaluating their effectiveness. Based on their evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures that took place as of the end of the period covered by
this report, the Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officers concluded that these procedures are effective to 1) ensure that we are able to collect, process,
and disclose the information we are required to disclose in the reports we file with the SEC within the required time periods and 2) accumulate and
communicate this information to our management, including our Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officers, to allow timely decisions regarding this
disclosure.

Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

During the three months ended June 30, 2024, the Company implemented a new core accounting platform, which included changes to the Company’s
general ledger, accounts payable, accounts receivable, and fixed assets accounting processes. As a result of this implementation, we modified certain
existing internal controls over financial reporting and implemented new controls and procedures related to the new financial system.

Except as noted above, during the period covered by this report, there were no other changes in our internal controls over financial reporting (as
defined under the Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f)) that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting.

54



)le of Contents

PART Il
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

The information provided in Note 14 of the Consolidated Financial Statements is hereby incorporated into this Part Il, Item 1 by reference.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
There have been no material changes from the risk factors previously disclosed in Item 1A of our 2023 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities, Use of Proceeds, and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

This table provides information with respect to purchases by the Company of shares of its common stock during the quarter ended June 30, 2024:

Maximum Number (or
Approximate Dollar
Value) of Shares

Total Number of Shares that May Yet Be
Average Price Purchased as Part of Purchased Under the
Number of Shares Paid per Publicly Announced Plans or Programs @
Period Purchased @ Share @ Plans or Programs @ (in millions)
April 1, 2024 through April 30, 2024 19,294 $ 26.00 18,900 $ 249.5
May 1, 2024 through May 31, 2024 271,668 $ 30.74 — $ 249.5
June 1, 2024 through June 30, 2024 15,409 $ 28.01 15,000 $ 249.1
Total 306,371 33,900

@ These columns include the following transactions during the three months ended June 30, 2024: (i) the surrender to the Company of 272,215 shares of common
stock to satisfy tax withholding obligations in connection with the vesting of restricted stock issued to employees; (ii) the purchase of 256 shares of common stock by
the Trustee for assets held in a non-qualified employee profit sharing plan trust; and (iii) the purchase of 33,900 shares of common stock on the open market as part of
our share repurchase program.

@ In December 2022, our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program effective December 9, 2022 with no expiration. The share repurchase program
authorizes the Company to repurchase up to $250.0 million of its common stock. The Company repurchased 33,900 shares under the share repurchase program
during the three months ended June 30, 2024, at a cost of approximately $0.9 million, resulting a remaining authorization to repurchase up to $249.1 million of its
common stock under the share repurchase program as of June 30, 2024. The approximate dollar value of shares that were eligible to be repurchased under our share
repurchase program is shown as of the end of such month or quarter.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information

During the three months ended June 30, 2024, none of our directors or executive officers informed the Company of the adoption or termination of a
"Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or a "non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement”, as those terms are defined in Item 408 of SEC Regulation S-K.
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Item 6. Exhibits

NO. DESCRIPTION

4.1 Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 5, 2024, by and among Trinity Industries, Inc., the guarantors party thereto and Truist
Bank, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to our Form 8-K filed June 5, 2024).

4.2 Form of Additional 7.750% Senior Notes due 2028 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.2 to our Form 8-K filed June
5, 2024).

10.1 Note Purchase Agreement dated May 22, 2024, among Trinity Industries Leasing Company, Trinity Rail Leasing 2021 LLC, Wells
Fargo Securities LLC, ATLAS SP Securities, a division of Apollo Global Securities, LLC, BofA Securities, Inc., Credit Agricole
Securities (USA) Inc., Citizens JMP_Securities, LLC, PNC Capital Markets LLC, and Regions Securities LLC (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed May 23, 2024).

10.2 Series 2024-1 Supplement dated May 30, 2024, by and between Trinity Rail Leasing 2021 LLC and U.S. Bank National
Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed June 4, 2024).

31.1 Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) Certification of the Chief Executive Officer (filed herewith).

31.2 Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) Certification of the Chief Financial Officer (filed herewith).

32.1 Certification pursuant to 18U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed
herewith).

32.2 Certification pursuant to 18U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed
herewith).

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document — the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are
embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document (filed electronically herewith).

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document (filed electronically herewith).
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document (filed electronically herewith).
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document (filed electronically herewith).
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document (filed electronically herewith).

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

TRINITY INDUSTRIES, INC. By:/s/ Eric R. Marchetto

Registrant
Eric R. Marchetto
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
August 1, 2024
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, E. Jean Savage, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Trinity Industries, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 1, 2024

/sl E. Jean Savage

E. Jean Savage
Chief Executive

Officer and President



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Eric R. Marchetto, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Trinity Industries, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 1, 2024

[sl Eric R. Marchetto

Eric R. Marchetto
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Trinity Industries, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2024 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), |, E. Jean Savage, Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company, as
of, and for, the periods presented in the Report.

/sl E. Jean Savage

E. Jean Savage
Chief Executive Officer and President
August 1, 2024

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Trinity Industries, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2024 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), |, Eric R. Marchetto, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company, as
of, and for, the periods presented in the Report.

[sl Eric R. Marchetto

Eric R. Marchetto
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
August 1, 2024

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



